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Business of Joint Committee

Chairman: The draft minutes for the meeting of 8 November 2017 have been circulated.  
Are they agreed?  Agreed.  We have received three items of correspondence, all of which are 
noted.  I propose that we suspend to allow the witnesses to take their seats.

Sitting suspended at 1.37 p.m. and resumed at 1.39 p.m..

Socioeconomic Context: Dr. Caitriona Henchion and Mr. Niall Behan, Irish Family Plan-
ning Association

Chairman: I welcome members and the people watching these proceedings on Oireachtas 
TV.  The committee is holding two sessions today, first, with representatives of the Irish Family 
Planning Association and, later this afternoon, with representatives from the HSE sexual health 
and crisis pregnancy programme.  Before we commence, at the request of the broadcasting 
unit, members and visitors in the Gallery are requested to ensure that their mobile phones are 
switched off or on flight mode.  We have seen over the past few weeks that sometimes tele-
phones cause interference, which creates a difficulty for the staff and, indeed, television and 
radio programmes if they wish to use coverage.  I hope that members will be mindful of the 
matter.

On behalf of the committee, I extend a warm welcome to the witnesses who will present in 
the first part of this afternoon’s meeting, Dr. Caitriona Henchion, medical director, Irish Family 
Planning Association, and Mr. Niall Behan, chief executive officer, Irish Family Planning As-
sociation.  They are both very welcome.  

Before we commence formal proceedings, I must advise witnesses on the matter of privi-
lege.  By virtue of section 17(2)(l) of the Defamation Act 2009, witnesses are protected by 
absolute privilege in respect of their evidence to the committee.  However, if they are directed 
by the committee to cease giving evidence on a particular matter and they continue to so do, 
they are entitled thereafter only to a qualified privilege in respect of their evidence.  They are di-
rected that only evidence connected with the subject matter of these proceedings is to be given 
and they are asked to respect the parliamentary practice to the effect that, where possible, they 
should not criticise or make charges against any person, persons or entity by name or in such a 
way as to make him, her or it identifiable.

Members are reminded of the long-standing parliamentary practice to the effect that they 
should not comment on, criticise or make charges against a person outside the House or an of-
ficial either by name or in such a way as to make him or her identifiable.

I call Dr. Henchion to make her presentation.

Dr. Caitriona Henchion: I thank the Chairman and members of her committee for the in-
vitation to address them today.

I am a medical doctor and have specialised in reproductive health for over 20 years.  I am 
registered with the Irish College of General Practitioners as a contraceptive tutor and a tutor in 
the provision of long-acting reversible contraception.  I am a member of the European Society 
of Contraception and Reproductive Health and the Irish Association of Sexual and Reproduc-
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tive Healthcare Providers.

I have been the medical director of the Irish Family Planning Association since 2008.  The 
IFPA is Ireland’s leading sexual health charity.  It promotes the right of all people to sexual and 
reproductive health information and dedicated, confidential and affordable health care.  We 
operate two not-for-profit medical clinics where we deliver services, including contraception, 
post-abortion medical check-ups, cervical screenings, and screenings for sexually transmitted 
infections.  We also have ten centres nationwide where we provide free pregnancy counselling 
and post-abortion counselling services. 

My colleagues and I work in the context of an extremely restrictive legal framework, princi-
pally, the eighth amendment of the Constitution.  We are also bound by two pieces of legislation 
that include criminal sanctions, the Protection of Life During Pregnancy Act and the Abortion 
Information Act.  Navigating these complex legal barriers while trying to maintain a caring 
clinical relationship is an immense challenge for us as health care providers.

This presentation will address the socio-economic dimensions of crisis pregnancy, and the 
impacts of current Irish law on women who experience an unintended pregnancy or a preg-
nancy that has become a crisis for other reasons.  I have included case vignettes in appendix 
one to this submission to further illustrate women’s decision-making.  I am happy to expand on 
issues raised in these afterwards.   

An unintended pregnancy is a frequent occurrence among women of reproductive age.  
While for some women this is a joyful and welcome situation, for many it is a traumatic and 
devastating life event.  Conversely, a wanted or planned pregnancy can become a crisis.  An 
unintended pregnancy can mean the difference between a woman determining her own future 
or seeing her plans derailed and her aspirations frustrated. 

In 2016, more than 3,000 women and girls gave Irish addresses at UK abortion clinics.  
These women were from all walks of life and from every county in Ireland.  In addition, as Dr. 
Abigail Aiken explained in an earlier session, women are increasingly accessing the abortion 
pill online.

Clients of IFPA doctors and pregnancy counsellors include women who have made a deci-
sion to have an abortion for a wide range of reasons related to their physical and mental health 
and well-being, and their ability to cope with a pregnancy.  The majority of our clients who 
consider abortion do so because to continue an unintended pregnancy would be an intolerable 
burden at this time in their life.  Any meaningful change from the current legal situation must 
include these women.

Each woman weighs up her particular circumstances very carefully before deciding that she 
is unable to cope with a pregnancy.  The factors a woman considers include the following: her 
family situation; her income; her social support networks; her plans for education; her working 
conditions; and her social and physical environments in terms of housing, relationships and 
so on.  Many women in this situation already have children.  They know what it means to be 
a mother.  For them, the need to care for their children is the primary reason that they decide 
not to continue with another pregnancy.  A woman may be trapped in an abusive relationship, 
or fear that continuing the pregnancy will trap her and her children into a lifelong relationship 
with an abuser. 

Pregnancy counselling services, such as the IFPA, can support women through their deci-
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sion-making and give them information about abortion services.  Increasingly, our clients are 
women who experience multiple forms of disadvantage which, in turn, restrict access to abor-
tion.  Indeed, the term “socio-economic” masks the reality that an unintended pregnancy can 
have devastating impacts on a woman’s life and that of her family. 

Once a woman in Ireland has made the decision to have an abortion, she is faced with a 
range of further obstacles and difficulties.  Cost will be a significant factor in the decision of 
almost every woman.  She will need to consider the practical supports available to her and ask 
herself the following questions.  Can she organise child care?  Can she get a sick certificate from 
her doctor?  Can her partner get time off to accompany her?  As a migrant woman, is she legally 
able to leave the country?  Will she be able to navigate the immigration procedures?  If she has 
a disability, how will this impact on her ability to access care?  Not everyone lives in Dublin or 
Cork.  Women who live at a distance from the major cities, particularly if they are dependent on 
public transport, may have a very lengthy journey to an airport if they decide to travel to the UK 
for a safe and legal abortion.  Clearly, this constitutes a further significant barrier.  For minors, 
all of these matters are immensely more complicated. 

Non-judgmental, non-directive counselling by a trained professional can be a huge support 
to a woman at this time, but it is no substitute for access to services.  We cannot ignore the fact 
that socio-economic factors frequently determine whether a woman travels for a legal abortion 
or resigns herself to the reality that her only option is an illegal abortion.  For some women, 
the obstacles are insurmountable and they are forced to continue the pregnancy against their 
wishes. 

When abortion is criminalised, as it is in Ireland, the burden of accessing care falls on the 
woman rather than the health care system.  This is because, whether a woman travels abroad for 
legal services or has an illegal abortion in Ireland, she must leave the mainstream health care 
service.  Her experience will not meet international health care standards such as those of the 
World Health Organization and the Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists. 

If a woman decides to travel for abortion, the information Act prohibits her doctor from 
making a referral to services in another State, even if she does not speak English, has a poor 
educational level or has an underlying medical condition.  Unlike any other medical treatment 
situation, the continuum of care is broken.  The onus shifts to the patient to make contact with 
a doctor outside of Ireland and to provide her medical history.  She must make her way to a 
private medical facility in another country without the supports that apply in other situations 
where people travel for health care.

A woman who is unable to travel, or for other reasons opts for an illegal abortion, is faced 
with the challenge of trying to find a reliable online provider without medical assistance.  She 
also risks prosecution under the Protection of Life During Pregnancy Act if she self-induces 
abortion, as does anyone who assists her.  In either scenario, an underlying medical condition 
that is easily managed in the context of legal abortion may become more risky.

Yet another way in which care falls below acceptable standards is a lack of contraceptive 
provision.  As Professor Arulkumaran told this committee, best practice in the context of where 
abortion is legal is that contraception is offered as part of integrated abortion care at the initial 
presentation and the post-abortion consultation.  For women in Ireland, this is not the case.  This 
may be because her first presentation is not with a doctor, and so she does not have immedi-
ate access to contraceptive information.  Online abortion pill providers are not in a position to 
provide ongoing contraception.  I frequently see women who, having paid all of the costs of 
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going to a private clinic for an abortion, for example, perhaps €600 for an abortion at ten weeks 
plus the cost of her travel, cannot afford to pay for post-abortion contraception, particularly 
their preferred method of a long-acting reversible method of contraception, which are the most 
effective.  

All of these failures of care are related to the disruption and fragmentation of care in the 
context of restrictive criminal abortion laws.  We see this also in relation to post-abortion care.  
Women who can access abortion in their own country have a clear post-abortion care pathway 
with the same provider.  In the event of complications, there are robust and timely pathways for 
referral, as recommended by the Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists, RCOG.  
This is not the case for women who travel from Ireland.  While free post-abortion care is funded 
by the HSE, and available to women from providers such as the IFPA, our experience is that 
only a small number of women avail of it.  Women who access illegal abortions receive a still 
lower standard of care.  In addition to the fragmented care pathway, they risk inadvertently 
accessing medication from an unreliable online source which could be inactive, inadequate or 
potentially harmful.  In my clinical experience, women accessing medication online tend to 
report problems late.  Fear of prosecution is a real deterrent to accessing health care for some 
of these women.

A substantial number of women are accessing abortion in this way.  As Dr. Aiken made 
clear, most women experience relief at the availability of this option, but that is not to say that 
it is acceptable health care.  It is an unregulated and unsafe practice, the harms of which are not 
being reviewed or measured by any public body.  No one is being held accountable for this, and 
the Government cannot continue to ignore it.

In considering the real health concerns associated with the criminalisation of abortion, we 
must not forget the impact of stigma on women.  Research by the American Psychological As-
sociation has found that feelings of stigma, perceived need for secrecy, exposure to anti-abortion 
picketing and low perceived or anticipated social support for the abortion decision negatively 
impact women’s post-abortion psychological experiences.  Every day, IFPA counsellors hear 
from women about these experiences.  Women’s privacy and informed consent are invaded in 
ways that do not happen when services are locally available.  Some women must make multiple 
disclosures of a private and personal health situation to, for example, community welfare of-
ficers, officials in the Department of Justice and Equality, staff in direct provision centres and 
social workers.  Decisions made at this level can turn obstacles into barriers.  Women’s dignity 
is violated at every step.  Their right to confidentiality is taken from them so many times, right 
up to the moment when they find themselves in taxis from airports to abortion clinics with 
women they do not know. 

In conclusion, our legal system imposes a significant burden on women at a time of crisis 
and stress in their lives.  It criminalises women and health care providers.  All women are dis-
advantaged and discriminated against when they are forced to travel to another state to access 
abortion services, and even more so if they access illegal abortion.  The requirement to travel 
for abortion forces a reduced quality of care on women.  Again, this is even more the case with 
illegal abortion.  We have an urgent need for safe and legal abortion care in this country.  This 
means equitable access, regardless of socio-economic status, to high quality, affordable, local 
services in Ireland that respect women’s autonomy and decision making.  As a society, we must 
take responsibility for ensuring that this becomes a reality in law and in health care practice.

I thank the committee and I am happy to answer questions.
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Chairman: Thank you.  I call Deputy Jonathan O’Brien.

Deputy  Jonathan O’Brien: I thank the witness for her presentation.  I will start with two 
questions.  The witness mentioned the importance of non-directive counselling.  Does she or 
her counsellors have any experience with women who may have initially accessed counselling 
services from a rogue agency?  How often would that happen and what impact does it have on 
trying to manage their pregnancy?

My second question is on the connection between socio-economic status and mental health.  
In her experience, does she find that women who had good mental health previously are faced 
with mental health issues in pregnancy because of their socio-economic status and not being 
able to manage their pregnancy in the manner in which they might choose?

Dr. Caitriona Henchion: With regard to the question on rogue agencies, the counsellors 
certainly encounter women from time to time who made initial contact with an agency that has 
an agenda to deter women from seeking abortions.  The usual issue that arises is that the woman 
will have been delayed.  There will have been several appointments and she will have been 
delayed in seeking care.  Obviously, we do not know if some women are deterred completely 
because if that is the case, we will not see them.  However, the counsellors see women who have 
had negative experiences in such agencies.

In terms of the socio-economic effects on mental health, particularly in respect of preg-
nancy, socio-economic factors and mental health are very much intertwined in every aspect of 
life.  Sometimes the socio-economic burden of an unintended pregnancy can have a negative 
effect on somebody’s mental health.  It becomes very difficult to separate those issues because 
in most such cases, many different issues are present.  Obviously, if somebody is concerned 
about, perhaps, an abusive partner, this becomes much more likely and it is more likely that her 
mental health will suffer if she is in a pregnancy she feels she cannot manage.  The two issues 
are very much intertwined.

Deputy  Jonathan O’Brien: With regard to some of the examples the witness provided to 
the committee in the appendix, she spoke about the Protection of Life During Pregnancy Act 
and some of the difficulties that has presented.  Perhaps she will expand on that.

Chairman: I am sorry to intervene, but I wish to let Senators know there is another vote in 
the Seanad if they wish to take part in it.

Dr. Caitriona Henchion: The issue doctors or counsellors have with the Protection of Life 
During Pregnancy Act is, first, the procedural difficulties involved in the Act and, second, the 
uncertainty.  If somebody presents and one feels there is a possibility she might qualify for 
an abortion under the Act, one cannot have any certainty about that.  One can only say to her 
that there is a possibility that she might be considered for an abortion under the Act.  One can 
explain the procedures, which are that she will have to be seen first by an obstetrician and 
then either by another obstetrician or another physician or two psychiatrists for a decision to 
be reached.  If somebody is suffering from mental ill health, for example, it is quite likely she 
will be attending a psychiatrist already.  She might have already disclosed that and she has now 
disclosed her situation to a counsellor or a doctor.  The prospect of having to go through three 
more similar investigations with another medical person is off-putting for her.  Our experience, 
and it is not huge because not many women will qualify under the Act anyway, is that where 
these issues arise, the woman will choose to travel if she has the means.  She does not want to 
have the uncertainty and the rigour of having to go through the Act.
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Chairman: I will save the remainder of the Deputy’s time for the next session.  Deputy 
Clare Daly has ten minutes.

Deputy  Clare Daly: If we use all our time here, so be it.  The presentation was absolutely 
excellent.  I was struck by Dr. Henchion’s comment that unintended pregnancy is a frequent 
occurrence.  This committee has spent a great deal of time considering circumstances of rape, 
fatal foetal abnormality and the woman’s health.  In the experience of the IFPA, the majority 
of women who decide to access abortion would not fit into those categories.  Perhaps she will 
expand on that and, by implication, what that means for this committee.  We have been looking 
at reasons but, in fact, the real circumstances of women accessing abortion fall outside of those 
reasons.  What does Dr. Henchion think is the best way for us to deal with the task we have 
been given?

Dr. Caitriona Henchion: To give a little background, other presenters to the committee 
have explained that a very small number of abortions are sought on the grounds of either foetal 
anomalies or rape.  The vast majority of them are far more complex and involve many socio-
economic factors.  As to what those factors are, there are as many different sets of circumstances 
as there are women.  Various combinations of factors occur.  It might be a young woman who is 
still in education or very early on a career path who does not have the support of a partner and 
who feels she will damage her future by continuing with the pregnancy.  It might be an older 
woman who has children and has just got back into the workplace.  As in the first vignette I 
gave, there might be financial difficulties for that family that they are trying to get through and 
they feel another pregnancy would stop them being able to get their lives back on track.  We 
have some women with very severe forms of disadvantage.  For example, some women are 
battling addiction and might have children in care.  They are on a pathway out of addiction and 
have accessed services.  They have succeeded in keeping sober.  They just feel that the mental 
health toll of a pregnancy and the fact of having another baby might put their goal of getting 
their plans back on track out of their reach.  There are a vast number of different situations that 
occur.  Trying to set out a list of conditions that would fulfil a socio-economic criteria  is unreal-
istic.  The only way to deal with that is to have some sort of open access so that these conditions 
can be met.  Whether the committee decides to put gestational limits in place for that is a matter 
for the Government.  To ask women to meet certain criteria does not recognise the complexity 
of the issue in the first place.

Deputy  Clare Daly: Two things are apparent to me but I do not want to put words in 
the mouth of Dr. Henchion.  In essence, she has said that we would not meet the needs of the 
majority of women who need to access an abortion if we opted for a restrictive reasons-based 
criteria.  I do not know how one would define a socio-economic reason.  In that sense, and by 
comparison with other jurisdictions, what is the best way to do that?  Is it early availability 
without restriction?  Has the IFPA studied examples in other states?

Dr. Caitriona Henchion: Portugal was very similar to us in so far as it had very restrictive 
laws around abortion.  However, Portugal introduced unrestricted access up to ten weeks gesta-
tion and there are more restrictions in place for later gestations.  That was done to address the 
fact that women can access abortion without having to prove or make a case up to that time.

Deputy  Clare Daly: Is Dr. Henchion saying that if we opted for a reasons-based legislation 
then we would not meet the needs of the people who the IFPA has come in contact with?

Dr. Caitriona Henchion: Yes, absolutely not.
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Deputy  Clare Daly: I shall digress for a minute.  The World Health Organization has been 
incredibly strong; it has said one cannot talk about abortion without talking about contraception.  
Dr. Abigail Aiken mentioned that 44% of the women who accessed the services of her organisa-
tion, Women on Web, had not used contraception.  There is a huge link between the availability 
of contraception and unintended pregnancies, which is the real issue.  What measures should we 
put forward in that case?  This committee will deal with ancillary recommendations.

Dr. Caitriona Henchion: Yes.

Deputy  Clare Daly: What measures should we, as a committee, put forward to address the 
deficit in contraception services?

Dr. Caitriona Henchion: There are two key issues when it comes to barriers to contracep-
tion although there are many lesser ones too.  When I am at work in my clinic I provide con-
traception for a good part of my day, which is fine.  I can only see the people who make it in 
to see me.  That means the women must know that a contraceptive service is available, be able 
to afford contraception services and know where to access them.  First, one needs good quality 
education and awareness programmes so that women are aware of contraceptive methods and 
where to access them.

Second, one must remove the financial barrier.  Without question there is a financial barrier.  
A person with a medical card can access services for free.  However, a person on the cusp of 
not having a medical card who is not well off cannot access services.  I have seen what happens 
when women seek long-acting reversible contraceptive methods, such as the Mirena coil or 
whatever.  They are really interested and want it because they want to be very safe.  Quite often, 
when I outline the cost to them they defer their decision.  Unfortunately, some of those women 
end up using much less safe methods.  They may have already said that they were on the pill 
before but could never remember to take it yet I must send them out with a prescription for the 
pill knowing that it is not going to be the best method for them because they cannot afford to 
get what they want.  

Deputy  Clare Daly: Does Dr. Henchion see that aspect as the key way to address unin-
tended pregnancies?

Dr. Caitriona Henchion: Yes.

Deputy  Clare Daly: Is it even more important than abortion services in some ways?

Dr. Caitriona Henchion: Yes.  Prevention is definitely the best way to go.

Deputy  Clare Daly: Criminalisation has come up a fair bit.  It is a fact that most people do 
not want to see women or health care providers criminalised.  Is the threat of criminalisation a 
prevailing issue for IFPA staff?  What would decriminalisation mean for the delivery of IFPA 
services?

Dr. Caitriona Henchion: Without question the criminal sanctions in the law have a chilling 
effect.  To be perfectly honest, I cannot see why anybody inserted a 14-year prison sentence 
unless one wanted it to have a chilling effect.  That seems obvious.  As a group, doctors are 
very anxious about anything that would damage their reputation in any way.  Being associated 
with potential criminal charges, even if one is not sent to prison, is a huge threat and definitely 
influences people in the way they manage consultations.  It means that instead of a doctor being 
comfortable and free in his or her discussion with somebody one is continually, in one’s mind, 
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trying to be guarded and careful about anything one might say that could possibly be interpreted 
as not being in keeping with the law.  Decriminalisation would take away that layer yet one still 
can have lots of ethical and clinical guidelines.  The Medical Council is still in a position to 
sanction doctors who have been found to have behaved inappropriately.  It should not mean that 
people think doctors will somehow behave badly if there is no criminal sanction.  Decriminali-
sation will allow doctors to have a freer conversation with the woman in that position.

Deputy  Clare Daly: A lack of access is a very real and living thing.  In terms of the con-
sultation, Dr. Henchion has clearly pointed out the issues of affordability and availability of 
services nationally.  She has also pointed out that one cannot define socio-economic reasons as 
life happens and a whole number of things take place, and one must trust somebody to make 
the best decisions for themselves.

In the context of the provision of services, recently the head of the Royal College of Obste-
tricians and Gynaecologists in Britain proposed that nursing staff, midwives and so on should 
be able to dispense the abortion pill, and it should be made widely available in the early stages 
of pregnancy without much hoo-hah.  It could also be dispensed through pharmacies or in the 
normal regulatory way in which we deal with any sort of pharmaceutical tablets or whatever.  
Does Dr. Henchion believe the abortion pill should be affordable and made available nationally 
through our network of pharmacies, local nursing services or local GPs?  Perhaps I have not ex-
plained myself.  Would that be a good way of opening services up from an access point of view?  

Dr. Caitriona Henchion: Medical abortion, as a method, certainly has the ability to do 
what the Deputy has said but one would need a lot of expert advice on how to set up the service.  
A certain amount of things would need to be in place.  Pharmacies might not turn out to be the 
best place to provide the service.  We would generally feel that proper gestational assessment 
beforehand is an important part of providing abortion care, which might be difficult in the con-
text of pharmacies.  A primary care based service is possible but, most important, one would 
need to have robust and timely referral pathways.  Overall, abortion is a very safe procedure and 
very few people will need further interventions.  One needs to have the service set up so that 
interventions are not delayed when needed.

Deputy  Clare Daly: That is helpful.  Dr. Henchion made a strong point about the fact that 
the burden of access care falls on the woman rather than on the health care provider.  Is there a 
comparative scenario in terms of health care provision?

Dr. Caitriona Henchion: No, I cannot think of one.  It is an anomaly.

Deputy  Clare Daly: Is it blatantly discriminatory because the situation only applies to 
women?

Dr. Caitriona Henchion: Yes.

Deputy  Anne Rabbitte: I thank Dr. Henchion for her presentation.

Chairman: There is telephone interference some place near the Deputy.

Deputy  Anne Rabbitte: Sorry.

Chairman: No worries.

Deputy  Anne Rabbitte: Such interference can steal one’s thunder.  Before I ask questions 
and everything else, I want to say the following and have it minuted.  I feel that it is regrettable 
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that we have not heard from people or representative groups who have experienced crisis preg-
nancies but chose not to have an abortion and parent instead.  Several pro-life groups who have 
been invited to appear before the committee have not shown up, and there is still a vacuum.  
Chairman, I wonder if the pro-life spaces will be filled.

Chairman: We are expecting that a group suggested by Deputy Mattie McGrath will come.  
We assume they will come.  We had to rearrange their slot because of the week off.  It so hap-
pened that we had TMFR in the week before.  The intention was to have the group in the week 
after, which was last week, but we are in their hands as to whether they want to come in.  My 
understanding is that they are due in and there is no question of them having said that they do 
not want to come in.  I hope they will come in because we really want them to come.

Deputy  Anne Rabbitte: That is where I am coming from.  In fairness, for balance and 
for the audience who view the proceedings, I have said all along that I have been very open 
minded.  I want to hear every side of the story.  I have a particular viewpoint, but that does not 
mean to say that I do not want to hear every single presentation.  I appeal to anybody who has 
been invited to appear before the committee, to take up the offer to come before the committee 
and to let us do our job.

Chairman: It is very helpful that Deputy Rabbitte says that, because I am blue in the face 
trying to get people to see that this is an environment where we want the information.  We are 
looking at women’s health care in regard to the eighth amendment of the Constitution.  It is very 
important that we hear from as many witnesses as we can who are relevant to the proceedings.  
In fairness to Deputy Mattie McGrath and Senator Rónán Mullen, they suggested two advocacy 
groups in that area early on.  We agreed as a committee that we would have TMFR and the 
group I have just mentioned, One Day More.

This is a very important clarification on all areas of expertise.  I will allow the Deputy more 
time to put questions.

Deputy  Anne Rabbitte: I had allocated time to raise these points for the simple reason that 
we need everybody to feel that we have listened to all sides and that all members of the commit-
tee want to hear all sides of the argument; that committee members do not have a preconceived 
idea or want only to hear one version.  We are here to listen to all sides.  Whether the people 
who were invited decide not to take up the offer to come before the committee, they are doing 
their own community a disservice by not coming before us to make a presentation.

Deputy Billy Kelleher:  Hear, hear.

Chairman: I am indebted to Deputy Rabbitte for making that point.

Deputy  Anne Rabbitte: What are the main socio-economic factors that need to be ad-
dressed in this country in order to reduce the number and the impact of crisis pregnancies, ir-
respective of whether the person chooses to have an abortion or to keep the baby?

Dr. Caitriona Henchion: Some of what I have already said covers that.  Access to good 
quality sexual health education and access to contraception are two of the major things.  There 
is also the issue of why women would feel they are unable to continue with a pregnancy.  Per-
haps in some ways there are lots of other issues that come in there - the support for women who 
are still in education who might have a baby might not be what it should be; similarly, consid-
eration should be given to increased flexibility in work practices to enable women to feel that 
they are not going to be discriminated against in terms of promotion if they have to take time 
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off to have children.  Those are two very clear factors.

More social support for women who are in very seriously deprived situations, such as the 
women who might have children in care should be available, so that they are not made to feel 
that having another pregnancy will deprive them of the opportunity to be reunited with the chil-
dren who are in care.  These are all very complex issues but those are the types of issues that 
fewer women felt meant they could not actually continue with the pregnancy.

Deputy  Anne Rabbitte: In her presentation, Dr. Henchion stated:

And we cannot ignore the fact that socio-economic factors frequently determine whether 
a woman ultimately travels for a legal abortion or resigns herself to the reality that her only 
option is an illegal abortion.

Dr. Caitriona Henchion: That is in the context that somebody has chosen to have an abor-
tion.

Deputy  Anne Rabbitte: Yes, absolutely, it is in that context, but will Dr. Henchion expand 
on the option of an illegal abortion?  Is it Dr. Henchion’s opinion that illegal abortion is hap-
pening in this State?

Dr. Caitriona Henchion: Absolutely, it is going on.  I definitely see women who come in 
who have had an illegal abortion.  They have found somewhere online to order pills and have 
taken those pills at home.  The only ones I will see are the women who are concerned in some 
way that perhaps something has not gone well.  The evidence would be from the number of 
packages that some of the providers have sent to Ireland and from some of Dr. Abigail Aiken’s 
evidence that there are a considerable number of women doing this on a daily basis in Ireland.

The reason I will see these women is because they have sat at home worrying about whether 
they have bled enough, and whether that they have had an abortion or not.  The women do 
not feel well, they have cramps, pains, things are not settling down and they are wondering if 
something has gone wrong or they are bleeding too much and are wondering if something has 
gone wrong.  I see women who have been in these situations and they are accessing abortion 
pills in an illegal way and taking them.  Because they are taking these pills in this country, that 
is illegal.  That is definitely happening.

Deputy  Anne Rabbitte: When these ladies present to Dr. Henchion or to one of the units 
around the country, I know there is a consultation with Dr. Henchion but is there a follow up 
to the HSE, to the hospitals or anything when a woman finds herself in a position where she 
needs further care?  Are there support mechanisms for a person who is too far advanced in her 
pregnancy to be taking an abortifacient?

Dr. Caitriona Henchion: Somebody could present to any doctor, but if she presents to me 
and I take the history and do an examination, and if the examination suggests either that there 
has been a complication or that the pregnancy has not ended, then usually what I would have to 
do at that stage would be to refer that woman on for evaluation in a maternity unit, where there 
is access to scanning.  That is the next important stage, to find out what exactly is the situation.  
In my position, we have two clinics, so I would have two particular hospitals that I would refer 
women to.  I would always contact the hospital to explain the woman’s situation, so that she 
does not just arrive to an emergency room and have to explain her story to several different peo-
ple.  That is not necessarily universal.  That is what I do.  I have made those contacts to ensure 
that we can provide that pathway for women.  I have had women who have delayed coming and 
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when I suggested that they need to go for further evaluation in a hospital, they have specifically 
asked me whether they will be reported.  It is a real concern not an imaginary one.  People actu-
ally ask that question.  They feel that even though the doctor might not want to report them, the 
doctor would have no choice because they have committed a crime.  It is a concern that they are 
not presenting when they need to be seen.

Chairman: Deputy Rabbitte is fine for time.  The exhibit that is on the screen is from a 
presentation by Dr. Abigail Aiken, who we asked to attend as a witness, following on from Ms 
Justice Mary Laffoy having pointed out that this was an issue we needed to investigate further 
because they did not get to spend as much time on it during the deliberations of the Citizens’ 
Assembly.  That may be of assistance in terms of the number that Dr. Aiken has been able to 
collate.

  I will now call the next questioner.  Deputy Peter Fitzpatrick has ten minutes in total and 
he can use it in this session and the next.  He can let me know.

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: I thank the Chairman  I thank the witness for her presentation 
today.  Let me begin by clarifying a few matters.  The Irish Family Planning Association is af-
filiated with the largest abortion providers in the world, the International Planned Parenthood 
Federation.  Am I correct that they fund some of Dr. Henchion’s activities?

Dr. Caitriona Henchion: Any questions related to funding will be dealt with by Mr. Niall 
Behan, as this is not my area.

Chairman: It is also important to point that fair procedure would indicate that witnesses are 
entitled to give more than a “yes” or “no” answer.  The answer can be concise.

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: That is my first question.

Chairman: By all means, pose the question to Mr. Behan but the witnesses are not required 
to give “Yes” or “No” answers.

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: Is it “Yes” or “No”?

Mr. Niall Behan: We are a member of the International Planned Parenthood Federation as 
are 100 other-----

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: I am asking Mr. Behan-----

Mr. Niall Behan: There are-----

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: The Irish Family Planning Association is the agency in front of 
us today and I am asking Mr. Behan a question.  I am looking for a “Yes” or “No” answer.  I do 
not mind abbreviation.  “Yes” is the answer.

Mr. Niall Behan: We are a member of the International Planned Parenthood Federation.

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: The Irish Family Planning Association also receives funding 
from the international abortion lobby group, the Centre for Reproductive Rights, which ap-
peared before us last week.  Is that right?

Mr. Niall Behan: Can the Deputy repeat the question?

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: The group is called the Centre for Reproductive Rights.  Its 
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representatives appeared before the committee last week.

Mr. Niall Behan: Leah Hoctor of the Centre for Reproductive Rights gave a presentation 
here last week.

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: Does the Irish Family Planning Association receive funding 
from it?

Mr. Niall Behan: In her presentation to the committee last week, Leah Hoctor was very 
clear that we have worked in partnership with the Centre for Reproductive Rights.

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: I am asking Mr. Behan a question.

Chairman: Mr. Behan is answering the question.  The Deputy has to give him a chance.

Mr. Niall Behan: I am answering the question.  We have worked in partnership.  It has 
given us funding to hold events.  That was very clear in Leah Hoctor’s presentation.  She was 
very upfront about that and very clear.  I do not see what the problem is.  We are a health care 
organisation.  We will work with other reproductive health care organisations.  That is what one 
would expect.

Chairman: In fairness to Deputy Fitzpatrick, his time is very tight, which is perhaps why 
he is looking for a “Yes” or “No” answer.

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: I thanked Mr. Behan for his presentation.  Here in Ireland, the 
Irish Family Planning Association is officially signed up as a member of the coalition-----

Chairman: Can we get some hush in the room please?  That includes in the Gallery.

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: Here in Ireland, the Irish Family Planning Association is offi-
cially signed up as a member of the coalition to repeal the eighth amendment which is running 
a nationwide campaign to repeal the eighth amendment.  Is that right?

Mr. Niall Behan: That is right.

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: We all know about couples who would love to adopt a child in 
Ireland but there are no children available to adopt.  It is very much a silent pain experienced 
by many people throughout the island.  As a politician, people tell me we would be better off 
spending our time and efforts to bring experts from abroad to look at ways of simplifying the 
adoption process in this country, which is quite complicated at present.  What specifically is 
the Irish Family Planning Association doing to promote adoption?  It is funded by taxpayers’ 
money.  What percentage of the tax funding goes on working to improve adoption services 
compared with spending on promoting the campaign to repeal the eight amendment?  Will Mr. 
Behan tell us how many conferences his organisation has held?  How many experts from abroad 
has it brought in to talk about that?  How can it improve the services in Ireland?

Mr. Niall Behan: There are lots of questions there.  I will have to give a fairly thorough an-
swer to them.  When a woman presents in our counselling centres, we go through all the options 
with her.  That includes parenting, abortion and adoption.  Very few women opt for adoption 
but they have done so.  We work very closely with other adoption agencies when that happens.  
The counselling we do is non-directive.  If that is what the woman wants to do, we will help her 
work through it and work with the adoption agency but also parenting organisations.  In answer 
to some of the issues Deputy Rabbitte raised, we have plenty of women who present to us with 
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an unintended pregnancy but they decide for various reasons to parent or, very rarely - I can 
only remember about two cases in the past couple of years - go on to look at adoption.

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: Does the Irish Family Planning Association spend any money 
on that at all?

Mr. Niall Behan: If one looks at any of the materials we give to clients or any of the pro-
tocols our counsellors use, they will all have information on parenting, adoption and abortion.

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: Will Mr. Behan answer the question on conferences?  How 
many conferences did the Irish Family Planning Association have and how much money did it 
spend getting people from abroad in?

Mr. Niall Behan: In what period of time?

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: Just on adoption.

Mr. Niall Behan: Sorry?

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: Did the Irish Family Planning Association spend any money 
asking people questions about adoption?  It brought in experts to help with the campaign to re-
peal the eighth amendment?  Did it spend any money getting experts in to talk about adoptions?

Mr. Niall Behan: Our counsellors are the ones who work the protocols.  In the past, they 
have had training days and information on Irish adoption laws.  There have been some changes 
in Irish adoption laws over the past few years.  Adoption has changed.  They have had training 
sessions and our protocols have changed to reflect those legal changes.

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: My second question is about the counsellors.  Was Mr. Behan 
aware that some of the Irish Family Planning Association clinics were found to be engaging in 
a dangerous practice in recent years, specifically in 2012?   I will not go into detail but some of 
the counsellors were found to be telling women they could tell lies to doctors by telling them 
they had miscarriages rather than abortions.  The master of the Rotunda at the time said this 
would put a woman’s life at risk.  Mr. Behan talked today about being able to look after wom-
en’s health properly and about looking after them to the highest health care standards.  Does Mr. 
Behan think the counsellors who told these women they could lie to the doctors were meeting 
the highest health care standards?

Chairman: Before I let the witness answer, does the Deputy have something to substantiate 
those claims, in order to protect the committee?

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: In fairness, this one was forwarded to the DPP and is on the 
public record.  I did not object to these people coming in today.

Chairman: As long as it can be found on the public record.  I thank the Deputy for clarify-
ing that.

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: The matter went as far as the DPP.  It is on the public record.  
The DPP decided not to prosecute.  I did not object to the witnesses coming in today but I can 
refer to what happened.  I am asking the question.

Chairman: Okay.

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: I thank the Chairman.
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Chairman: I just have to clarify though.

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: Yes.

Dr. Caitriona Henchion: I am quite happy to address that.  What the Deputy is referring 
to is the operation in which women who were not pregnant attended pregnancy counselling 
services and, without either the knowledge or permission of the counsellors, recorded those 
consultations, which I find very unethical.  From all of that, they isolated a few phrases in which 
counsellors had been led into giving specific answers and took them completely out of the con-
text of an otherwise very professional consultation.  As the Deputy said, this has been investi-
gated by the HSE and a file was sent to the DPP and there has been no evidence of wrongdoing 
found.  I do not know that one can say we did anything wrong in this situation.  Furthermore, it 
is the restrictive criminal laws that are making women afraid to disclose their medical history 
when they go to hospitals.  It is the restrictive criminal laws that mean women are looking for 
information about websites when they come to see counsellors.  It is those restrictive laws we 
need to change.

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: In fairness, the counsellors did talk about telling lies.  That is 
totally wrong.  Most of the witness’s statement today was about the health care of the woman.  
It is wrong for counsellors working for the Irish Family Planning Association to tell people to 
do this.  I spoke last week about Marie Stopes paying bonuses to staff members to encourage 
people to have abortions.  That is totally wrong.

 The witness has talked about how a woman who travelled abroad for an abortion will not 
be able to bring her medical history with her.  Medical history is very important so that a doctor 
can treat a woman properly.  If she has any complications or problems, he knows exactly what 
he can do because he has the records.  If women who went to Irish Family Planning Association 
clinics followed the advice they got there and told doctors they had a miscarriage instead of an 
abortion it would mean giving false medical history and if any complications cropped up, doc-
tors would not be able to treat them properly because they would not be aware they had had an 
abortion.  Given that medical history is very important, why were counsellors in Irish Family 
Planning Association clinics telling women they could give false information to their doctors.  
How can the organisation tell us women’s health is very important?  I am very disappointed.  
People do not just make these things up.  People went in looking for advice from the services.  
The Irish Family Planning Association is the only agency that was invited in here and it has told 
people to tell lies and put women’s health at risk.  

Dr. Caitriona Henchion: I have answered that question to the best of my ability.  It is the 
law that is causing these problems.  If we are going to have a situation in which women are go-
ing to feel criminalised if they disclose their history, then women will not want to disclose their 
history.  If we have a situation, on the other hand, where we are not allowed to make a referral 
and provide information, it is also the law that is preventing that.  The law and the criminal 
sanctions that are in place are what is leading to all the failures of care the Deputy is describing.

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: Since the introduction of the eighth amendment, there have 
been no prosecutions against any medical doctors.

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: Since the introduction of the eighth amendment, there have 
been no prosecutions of doctors or other medical personnel.  All I am trying to say is that one 
aspect of this debate really annoys me.  As the Chairman knows, I say every week that Ireland is 
one of the safest places in the world to have a pregnancy.  I think it is an absolute disgrace that 
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counsellors from the agencies that are coming in here are encouraging patients to tell lies.  It is 
a pity we do not have someone else coming in here to agree with everything I have said so far.

Chairman: The Deputy should feel free to recommend somebody.

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: I do not feel as though I am getting a proper answer from those 
who are here today.  To me, anyone telling a woman to tell a lie - to say she is having a miscar-
riage instead of an abortion - is an absolute disgrace.

Chairman: If there are any agencies that the Deputy would like to invite, they will be most 
welcome in this committee if they agree to attend.

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: As I said on the previous occasion, since we voted last month, 
it has been very difficult to get agencies to come in here.  They feel as though it is a done deal 
already.  In fairness, it is only-----

Chairman: I am not going to get into a debate about this now.

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: I am just trying to be honest.

Chairman: I know what the Deputy is saying.

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: The biggest problem we have at the moment is that as far as 
people are concerned, abortion is going to be on demand as a result of the vote we took here last 
month.  I felt that a lot of pressure was put on members to vote.  It was totally and utterly wrong 
that we took that vote.  The Citizens’ Assembly did not vote until it had completed its hearings.  
We should have done exactly the same.

Chairman: We voted on the status quo; we did not vote on the repeal issue.  I think that 
view is being propagated in a way that is unhelpful to this committee’s work.

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: I am just trying to say, through the Chair, I think-----

Chairman: No, the Chair is actually speaking.

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: Yes, but-----

Chairman: Now the time is up.  I do not want to get into a debate about this while we have 
witnesses in the room.  With respect, we can have a debate about this at another time if the 
Deputy wishes.  There will be a more appropriate opportunity.  I do not wish to cut the Deputy 
off, but it is not appropriate to get into this subject right now.

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: The reason people will not come in here is that they feel the 
decision has already been made.

Chairman: All I can say in response is that they are misinformed.  I call Senator Mullen.

Senator  Rónán Mullen: I would like to preface my remarks by referring to what Deputy 
Rabbitte said.  I think the Chair said she is “indebted to Deputy Rabbitte” for her comments 
about the non-appearance before the committee of certain pro-life invitees.  To judge by the let-
ters sent in by two of them, they did not want to be used in a tokenistic way by a committee that 
had already made up its mind that the eighth amendment must be changed or removed.  That 
was a significant decision to take without hearing all the evidence.  The response of the invi-
tees in question was very understandable.  They did not wanted to be added in as a last-minute 
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sprinkling for respectability by a committee, especially as their presence would not reverse the 
26-4 or 27-4 bias among witnesses.  That is the answer to Deputy Rabbitte’s concern.  I think 
the blame lies squarely with this committee.  I do not think the Chair will be indebted to me for 
saying that, but the evidence is incontrovertible.

Chairman: That is the Senator’s opinion.

Senator  Rónán Mullen: And the Chair has expressed her opinion numerous times.

Chairman: This is a matter to which we can return.

Senator  Rónán Mullen: I know exactly what it is.  If I may proceed to my questions-----

Chairman: Excuse me.  If I am speaking, then I am speaking.  I am the Chair of this com-
mittee.

Senator  Rónán Mullen: Yes.

Chairman: Please respect the position I hold.

Senator  Rónán Mullen: I am concerned about the bias of the Chair.

Chairman: There is no bias.  The Senator is one of the only people who is propagating that 
view.

Senator  Rónán Mullen: When the Chair is tweeting online and supporting comments by 
other members of the committee who are having a go at members of their own party, I think it 
raises questions.  If she does not mind, I would like to ask my questions.

Chairman: This is disorderly conduct as far as I am concerned.  The constant attack on me 
is strategic as far as I can see.  It is unhelpful to our work.  The Senator should please try to be 
reasonable in his approach.

Senator  Rónán Mullen: The Chair is the one who sought to have the final say on what 
I said, which was very carefully worded and 100% truthful.  She was not willing to let it go, 
notwithstanding that she had already expressed her opinion very clearly.  That reflects on her 
attitude, not mine.

Chairman: Excuse me-----

Deputy  Jan O’Sullivan: Can we please stop-----

Chairman: Does Senator Mullen understand that I am Chair of this committee and that 
when I make a ruling, it is final?

Senator  Rónán Mullen: The Chair did not make a ruling.

Chairman: It is the same as when Senator O’Donovan makes a ruling in the Seanad.  I 
make a ruling and it is final.  Please respect that.

Senator  Rónán Mullen: The Chair did not make a ruling.

Chairman: I did.

Senator  Rónán Mullen: What ruling did the Chair make?
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Chairman: I am talking about last week’s ruling, to which the Senator has just referred.

Senator  Rónán Mullen: We are not talking about that.  I am talking about the Chair 
second-guessing.  She is the one who has continued this conversation.  I am happy to move on 
with the questions.

Chairman: The Senator should move on with his questions.  He can have the time that he 
requires.

Senator  Rónán Mullen: I thank the Chair.  I appreciate that very much because, as I have 
said from the beginning, we do not have nearly enough time.

Chairman: Please just ask the questions.

Senator  Lynn Ruane: Senator Mullen should focus on what this is actually supposed to 
be about.

Chairman: Can we have Senator Mullen without interruption, please?

Senator  Rónán Mullen: To our guests-----

Chairman: That includes the Gallery.  Can we have Senator Mullen, without interruption?

Senator  Rónán Mullen: Appendix 2 to the IFPA document says that “IFPA services are 
operated in line with best international practice”.  In light of that, I want to go back to some of 
the issues raised by Deputy Fitzpatrick.  An exposé that was reported on in the Irish Indepen-
dent a few years ago was done by a group of women who had anecdotal or personal experience 
of having abortions or who knew women who subsequently came to regret their decisions and 
felt they had been badly and, in some ways, illegally advised by counselling agencies in receipt 
of funding from the State.  This is a very serious matter.  It was investigated by the Garda.  
The evidence showed that women were told to hide their abortions from their own doctors on 
five occasions.  In four of those five cases, it was IFPA counsellors who told them to do so.  In 
one case, a woman was told that if complications arose after a surgical abortion in Britain, she 
needed to tell medical staff in hospitals that she had had a miscarriage.  Nothing was said to her 
about whether she would be criminalised.  There was no evidence that this would ever happen.  
I think the strong understanding of people is that it would never happen.  She was simply told 
she needed to tell medical staff she had had a miscarriage, as opposed to an abortion.

The then Master of the Rotunda Hospital, Professor Sam Coulter-Smith, criticised the dan-
ger surrounding this type of advice.  He said that complications during an abortion procedure 
could result in perforation of the uterus, which could be life-threatening if not known to the 
woman’s doctor.  I put it to the IFPA that this was the action of a rogue agency.  It did not just 
happen once; it happened on at least five occasions and the IFPA was involved on at least four 
of those.  Contrary to the implicit suggestion that the counsellor was an inexperienced person 
who was led into giving this advice, in the case of one Dundalk-based counsellor it was a very 
experienced person.  Does the IFPA deny that what was recorded took place?  Why has it never 
issued a statement acknowledging wrong practices within the agency or, indeed, proposing to 
make amends?  Was that not very reckless?

On page 4 of its presentation, the IFPA clearly criticises the importation of abortion pills as 
dangerous and describes this as “an unregulated and unsafe practice”.  On the occasion of the 
investigation to which I have referred, women were told at two IFPA clinics how to purchase 
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and import illegal abortion pills by visiting a named website.  One counsellor advised a woman 
that she could have such pills posted to a post office box in Northern Ireland.  A counsellor at 
the Cork IFPA service who discussed the illegal importation of the abortion pill with a woman 
emphasised that the IFPA was not encouraging her to break the law or get into trouble while 
pointing out that this could be done.  The counsellor got the woman to write down the relevant 
information because he or she did not want to be arrested for providing it.  The counsellor was 
aware that this was not the kind of information he or she should be providing.  Is that not also 
the action of a rogue agency?

I will summarise my questions.  Does the IFPA acknowledge that there is evidence that 
some of its people have engaged in actions that were fatal for unborn children and had poten-
tially dangerous consequences for women?  While this evidence was reported to the Garda 
and led to some commentary in the Dáil, the Seanad and at the Oireachtas health committee, 
the IFPA neither deigned to issue an explanation of past wrongdoing nor showed any desire to 
investigate or to get to best practice.  Does that not show how little the IFPA actually cares for 
women’s health?  The report or investigation I have mentioned also found that Marie Stopes 
was criticised by IFPA counsellors, who advised people not to go to Marie Stopes services be-
cause they had received many complaints about them.  If the IFPA really cared about women’s 
health, would it not have gone public about this matter rather than quietly advising people not 
to go to Marie Stopes?  Would this not have been seen as a public health and safety question?  I 
would be very grateful for answers to those questions.

Chairman: Both Mr. Behan and Dr. Henchion may wish to respond.

Mr. Niall Behan: Many questions have been asked and many statements have been made.

Chairman: If a little bit of extra time is required, that is fine.

Mr. Niall Behan: Many of the statements that have been made are absolutely incorrect.  I 
think an attempt is being made to stigmatise a service provider.  The first thing to say is that 
no group of health care providers that I know of is more committed to women’s reproductive 
health than IFPA counsellors.  They make a conscious commitment to the women they deal with 
when those women are making their choices.  We put ourselves out there even though we are 
facing a difficult situation with regard to the law and the presence of anti-abortion campaigners.  
That is the first thing to say.

The second thing to say is that I welcome this opportunity to put the record straight about 
matters that have been raised a couple of times in the Oireachtas and, indeed, in the media.  We 
have not had an opportunity to correct the record.  The facts and figures given by Senator Mul-
len are completely incorrect.  The facts and figures that Senator Mullen cites are completely in-
correct.  I was called into the Garda investigation and I worked very closely with the HSE audit 
team.  The Garda investigation was absolutely clear that in regard to the Irish Family Planning 
Association, IFPA, there was no wrongdoing whatsoever.  I repeat, no wrongdoing whatsoever.  
I do not know what else Senator Mullen wants.

Senator  Rónán Mullen: I want Mr. Behan to answer the question that has been asked.

Chairman: On a point of clarification, is there a HSE audit?

Mr. Niall Behan: There was a HSE audit parallel to this.  I should explain what it was.  
It did not just concern the IFPA, and this is the difficulty I have with some of the input from 
Senator Mullen.  I cannot speak for other pregnancy counselling agencies.  What I do know is 
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that the Garda spoke to two of our counsellors about these transcripts, not five, four or nine of 
them.  Quite frankly, the gardaí were embarrassed to be investigating this nonsense.  This was 
a set-up, a sting operation by anti-abortion campaigners trying to lead counsellors to break the 
law.  It was nothing more and nothing less.  What we had parallel to the Garda investigation 
was a HSE audit-----

Chairman: I remind Mr. Behan of the need to be careful with that type of commentary.

Senator  Rónán Mullen: Absolutely.  He is speaking for gardaí who are not here.  How do 
we know that any of this is true?

Chairman: We all need to be reasonable in this debate-----

(Interruptions).

Senator  Rónán Mullen: I have evidence.

Deputy  Clare Daly: That cannot go unchallenged.  Senator Mullen is questioning the re-
sult of a Garda investigation.  Evidence has been given that the Garda decided there was to be 
no follow-up.

Senator  Rónán Mullen: I said that.

Deputy  Clare Daly: Senator Mullen is disputing that.

Senator  Rónán Mullen: I do not dispute that.

Deputy  Clare Daly: Senator Mullen was inferring motives into the minds of the Garda.

Senator  Rónán Mullen: On a point of order, what I am disputing is the hearsay reportage 
of what the gardaí thought of the evidence presented to them.

Deputy  Clare Daly: We may presume, because the Garda decided there was to be no 
follow-on.  This is a nonsense.

Senator  Rónán Mullen: The only fact of which Deputy Daly is aware, and the only fact 
which is in the public domain, is that it did not proceed to a prosecution.  We do not know why.

Chairman: I remind members that we are here to examine the recommendations of the 
Citizens’ Assembly.

Senator  Lynn Ruane: The IFPA is not on trial here.

Senator  Rónán Mullen: Frankly, it is.  It goes to the credibility of the IFPA.

Chairman: We have to remember our remit.  In this meeting, all comments will come 
through the Chair.  That is the way it works.

Deputy  Mattie McGrath: Clearly it is not.

Chairman: The same applies when Deputy McGrath is speaking-----

Deputy  Mattie McGrath: It does not.



15 NOVEMBER 2017

21

Chairman: -----and when I am speaking.  We must get back to the point.  We are here to 
examine the Citizens’ Assembly recommendation.  That is our remit.  Members must try to stick 
to that.

Deputy  Mattie McGrath: Can I make a point of order, Chair?  It is very dangerous for our 
guest to say that the gardaí were embarrassed.  How would he know that?

Chairman: The Deputy has made his point of order.

Deputy  Mattie McGrath: It is a very reckless thing to say, unless he has an inside track 
with the Garda Síochána.

Chairman: We must stick to the facts.

Mr. Niall Behan: In parallel to the Garda investigation, the HSE carried out an audit.  That 
audit looked at every one of the IFPA counselling protocols and at the protocols and policies 
of the other HSE-funded counselling services.  We were asked to justify various procedures 
we had in place.  The audit examined the evidence that we relied on for those protocols from 
a whole range of best practice models: the World Health Organization; the Royal College of 
Obstetricians and Gynaecologists; the International Planned Parenthood Federation; the Irish 
College of General Practitioners; the HSE itself; and the Irish Association for Counselling and 
Psychotherapy.  That is how the audit proceeded, by looking at how we actually did our work.

This was carried out by the quality and patient safety directorate within the HSE.  The IFPA 
had no difficulty in co-operating with that process.  It took up quite a lot of IFPA and HSE staff 
time.  Following that process, four administrative recommendations were made to us.  We had 
no difficulty in complying with them.  Within days of receiving those recommendations, we 
changed our protocols in a manner that was satisfactory to the quality and patient safety direc-
torate.  This is the type of stuff that the IFPA has been putting up with since the 1970s.  It does 
not deter us.  I do not know why Senator Mullen does it.  It does not really get him anywhere.  
We stand on the evidence and on medical best practice. 

Senator  Rónán Mullen: I asked a question.

Chairman: On a point of clarification, the time is well over by now.

Senator  Rónán Mullen: I need to come back and ask the question, to which I have not 
gotten a response.

Mr. Niall Behan: Can I just make one final point?

Chairman: The witness is not quite finished.

Mr. Niall Behan: While this was going on within reputable counselling services, not just 
the IFPA, rogue agencies were allowed to practise.  Women were going into rogue agencies 
that had absolutely no scrutiny or legislation to call them to account.  That makes the law a 
shambles.  When there are organisations relying on best practice to provide these services, and 
the law only applies to them and not to rogue agencies, that is a shambles.

Chairman: I just want to clarify.  Does Dr. Henchion have any desire to comment on this?

Dr. Caitriona Henchion: No, I commented on this earlier.

Chairman: Thank you.  Senator Mullen, please sum up.
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Senator  Rónán Mullen: I will, and I thank the Chairman for the opportunity.  I have not 
got an answer to any of my questions.  I heard an explanation that the HSE investigation came 
up with recommendations that the IFPA had no problem with implementing.  I did not ask about 
that.  I did not ask what they thought of the gardaí who were carrying out the investigation.  
What I have heard from Mr. Behan is the suggestion that some of what I have put to him is false.  
I want to ask him which of the issues that I have put on the record, and about which I have asked 
him, is false.  Does he deny that on four occasions, IFPA counsellors told women to hide their 
abortions from their doctors?  Does he deny what I said about the experienced counsellor in 
Dundalk, who gave the specific advice that I put on the record?  Does he deny that he has never 
acknowledged any of these wrong practices?  He thanks us for giving him the opportunity to 
put certain things on the record.  The point here is that in four years, the IFPA never took the 
opportunity to explain itself, or to deny one iota of what this investigation brought to light.

Chairman: Senator, I am looking at my clock now.  I only started-----

Senator  Rónán Mullen: Can I just ask the question again?

Chairman: We are now at 13 minutes, and that is after the Senator made his points at the 
initial stages, so he has had almost 20 minutes now.  I will allow Mr. Behan to answer that if he 
wishes to do so.

Mr. Niall Behan: These issues were investigated and no wrongdoing was found.

Senator  Rónán Mullen: Gosh, that is a Richard Nixon-type explanation.  It is appalling.

Chairman: We have to move to the next questioner.  I call Deputy Murphy.

Deputy  Catherine Murphy: I thank the witnesses for their presentation.  I felt it was very 
useful.  Obviously, we are trying to focus on the recommendations from the Citizens’ Assembly 
and come to a conclusion in the writing of our report.  I would like the issue of bias to be dealt 
with at some point, perhaps next week.  This concerns the names of the organisations that have 
come in here.  A large number of witnesses have appeared, and they have given neutral legal 
advice.  We need to address that.  I ask the Chair that the committee address this next week.

Chairman: We can have a half an hour of debate on that at the start of our next meeting.  
In fact, I would be very grateful if that was addressed.  It is very easy for something like that to 
resonate, and it is much more difficult to defend against that type of allegation.

Deputy  Catherine Murphy: Moreover, it is not true and it is continually being put out 
there.  Mr. Behan said that his clients are increasingly women who experience multiple forms 
of disadvantage, which in turn restricts access to abortion.  It was very useful to see the profile 
of women who seek abortions in Dr. Abigail Aiken’s presentation.  A view is sometimes put 
forward that there is a frivolous aspect to women who might be seeking abortion or that it is a 
form of family planning.  I am playing devil’s advocate in this.  Personally, I think that nobody 
would seek an abortion unless they had seriously thought about it and it was a serious crisis.  I 
would like to ask the witnesses what they hear about the thought that goes into abortions.  Ob-
viously, there is a non-directive counselling service in advance.  Will Dr. Henchion address the 
issue of people being thoughtful about the very big decision they have to make?

Dr. Caitriona Henchion: Undoubtedly women give the decision an awful lot of thought.  It 
is not only women, however.  Quite often families are involved in the decision, women and their 
partners, and they take into account issues relating to their children.  I have spoken to women 
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who, very regretfully, decided to have an abortion because they already had two children with 
special needs and simply would not have been able to look after them properly if they continued 
with another pregnancy.  I have come across women who have made their decisions with great 
difficulty, but after giving them a great amount of thought.  They may feel, for example, that 
there is a very high risk of a problem occurring with their pregnancies by virtue of their age.  
In every case, the women have considered the decision.  They have argued for and against it in 
their heads for quite a long time before making it.

The other issue is that so many of these women are not using contraception properly or not 
using reliable contraception at the time they become pregnant.  Quite separately from women 
who have had a crisis pregnancy or an abortion, I meet many women for emergency contracep-
tion or contraception consultations.  Sometimes I meet women for consultations that are totally 
unrelated to contraception and when I ask them what contraception they are using, they tell me 
that they are not using any even though they are of reproductive age.  The issue of why women 
are not using contraception or not using effective contraception is a huge issue which needs to 
be addressed.  I have given some of the possible reasons for that.  

This is not just to do with teenagers and young women.  This is to do with women of all 
ages having misconceptions about their fertility or simply taking chances, putting off issues of 
contraception and not doing anything about it.  We really need to address that.  It would be far 
better to reduce the number of unplanned pregnancies and crisis pregnancies rather than having 
to have an increased number of abortions.

Deputy  Catherine Murphy: I thank Dr. Henchion.  In respect of people accessing medica-
tion online, she has said that abortion is a relatively safe procedure, but it is obviously not safe 
in every set of circumstances and needs to be carried out in a health care context.  What kind of 
risks are we talking about?  With specific regard to pills ordered online, is there a health risk or 
a risk to life?  Will Dr. Henchion articulate any such risks?

Dr. Caitriona Henchion: There are a number of risks.  The first is that the medication may 
not be what it is supposed to be.  That is particularly the case if ordered from a provider that is 
not reliable.  I have seen women who have taken medication they ordered online themselves 
and nothing has happened.  They did not have bleeding or pain or they had very little bleeding.  
It is clear that whatever they were given did not contain any active ingredients.  We have no 
idea of the conditions in which that sort of medication is being made.  It may not be safe.  It 
may contain ingredients which are not safe for people to take.  It is certainly misleading and it 
gives women the impression, particularly if they have a small amount of bleeding afterwards, 
that they may have ended their pregnancy when in fact they have not.  In the event of someone 
being at a later stage of gestation than she thought, there is a greater chance of the medication 
not working and, therefore, a greater chance that the pregnancy will continue.  It is dangerous 
to expose a pregnancy to some of those medications if it then continues.

There is not a huge number of complications in these cases, but there is one very simple 
thing about which I would be concerned when women are accessing pills online.  If anybody 
who has a miscarriage, abortion or full-term delivery is rhesus negative, which is a blood type, 
she needs to get anti-D immunoglobulin to prevent damage to any subsequent pregnancies.  
These women are clearly not getting that because they are not seeing a health care provider.  
My final concern, which I have already mentioned, is the fear that the small number of women 
who have excessive bleeding are delaying coming to see somebody because they are afraid of 
getting into trouble.
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Deputy  Catherine Murphy: Following on from that, if the medication is not what it is 
supposed to be, does it pose the prospect of later travel and an abortion being procured later as 
a consequence of that delay?  Is that scenario likely?

Chairman: I will allow that just as a point of clarification but we are well over time.

Dr. Caitriona Henchion: That could certainly be a problem.  As I said before, we only 
see a small number of these women because we are not likely to see women who do not have 
problems.  Even when they do have problems, they may do nothing rather than risk coming to 
somebody who they feel might report them.  I can only guess that it might be a factor in delay-
ing access to abortion.

Deputy  Catherine Murphy: I thank Dr. Henchion.

Deputy  Hildegarde Naughton: Dr. Henchion has given a very comprehensive presenta-
tion and many of my questions have been answered.  I would just like to clarify or confirm what 
I have picked up from her responses.  From her experience with unplanned pregnancies, does 
Dr. Henchion think that our sex education programme in schools is effective?  Is there enough 
knowledge about the effectiveness of various forms of contraception out there?  I believe Dr. 
Henchion has basically said that, in her experience, there is not but I would like her to clarify 
that because it is important that we get a clear message out in respect of sex education and 
awareness around contraceptives.

Dr. Caitriona Henchion: The problem is that our education system is inconsistent in re-
spect of sexual health.  There are schools where it is done really well and schools where it is 
barely addressed at all.  It sometimes happens a little bit too late, so the very vulnerable people 
who might leave education early are not getting access to such education at all.  That is my view.

Deputy  Hildegarde Naughton: We have heard previously that the majority of women 
seeking abortions internationally have already had at least one child.  Is that Dr. Henchion’s 
experience?

Dr. Caitriona Henchion: Absolutely.  It varies however.  There would be women who have 
had no pregnancies and women who have had pregnancies.  There would be women who have 
a number of children and women who have none.  There would be all kinds of women.

Deputy  Hildegarde Naughton: Finally, I would like to ask Dr. Henchion about so-called 
agencies which are not funded by the State - rogue agencies.  Does she have any experience of 
adverse outcomes caused by the involvement of such groups in a crisis pregnancy?

Dr. Caitriona Henchion: The main concern is the delay in accessing abortion.  The later 
abortion is accessed, the greater the possibility of complications.  I cannot say that I specifically 
have seen anyone who has had a complication because of such a delay myself.

Mr. Niall Behan: If I may add to that, we have had a small number of cases of pregnancies 
that became concealed pregnancies because the first experience of the young girl or the woman 
with a service was so negative that she did not present at any service subsequently until very 
late in the pregnancy.  They move into that kind of concealed pregnancy and do not engage with 
maternity services.  We have had a small number of such cases.

Deputy  Hildegarde Naughton: I thank the witnesses.

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: I thank the witnesses for coming in today.  To follow on from 
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some of Deputy Daly’s questions on contraception, I hope the witnesses will correct me if I am 
wrong but I believe they are saying that greater access to contraception leads to fewer unwanted 
pregnancies.  Can we sum it up like that?  I have tabled a parliamentary question on today’s 
Order Paper, No. 76, which basically asks the Minister for Health the cost to the Exchequer 
of contraceptives over the past ten years.  I did not table the question just for the good of my 
health.  I intend to propose that all women in Ireland be provided with free contraception, in 
the same way as proposed by Deputy Daly, to whom I have spoken about it.  I worked in com-
munity pharmacy before and we had difficulty in accessing emergency contraception at the 
weekend and the Minister introduced a statutory instrument.  Based on what the witnesses have 
said today and the work which has already been done by members of the committee, it is a no-
brainer for us to call for universal access to contraceptives for women in Ireland.

Dr. Henchion referred to long-acting, reversible contraceptives.  The cost of the Mirena coil 
allowed on the drugs payment scheme is €144, providing coverage for five years, give or take, 
which is €2.40 per calendar month.  That is not a massive sum of money.  Dr. Henchion is talk-
ing about the outlay.  I have come across people who have put off having the relevant procedure 
for financial reasons.

We are discussing  socioeconomic reasons today but I want to move away from the econom-
ic element to the social one.  One of my sisters had babies in that wonderful hospital in Cork.  I 
was interested to see that domestic violence goes from one in eight in normal circumstances in 
Cork, or the regions served by Cork, to one in five when a woman is pregnant.  My understand-
ing is that economic factors have no influence on this.  The committee needs to know that wom-
en are much more likely to suffer from domestic violence if they are pregnant.  I should not say 
that is not only in Cork.  However, the study was conducted in Cork and the surrounding region.  
What emerged from it conjures up the idea that women with crisis pregnancies may be trapped 
in relationships where they are forced to become parents against their will.  Can Dr. Henchion 
tell me if there is any impediment to a woman requesting a hysterectomy?  If I decided tomor-
row that my periods were too heavy or too difficult and I was low in iron and wrecked all the 
time, would I have to go to a court to ask that my reproductive organs be removed?  Do I have 
to clear it with anyone other than my doctor?

Referring to something my Fine Gael colleague said, that we do not have any babies to 
adopt, are we moving into a situation reminiscent of The Handmaid’s Tale, whereby women 
with crisis pregnancies will be detained, forced to become parents and used as a source of sup-
ply of babies for childless people?  That is up there with the most shocking thing I have heard 
today and I am hoping to God nobody forces me into that situation.  Good luck to them if they 
do.

I want to correct something that was said by the good Senator Mullen.  The Irish Indepen-
dent did not carry out the investigation into the doctors.  I believe it was an undercover opera-
tion by anti-choice activists and the story was then given to Gemma O’Doherty of the Irish 
Independent.

Senator  Rónán Mullen: That is not inconsistent with anything I said.

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: Grand.  We will check the Official Report.

I think it was Deputy Rabbitte who asked about illegal abortions and Dr. Henchion spoke 
about online pills.  Have we any evidence that illegal surgical abortions are taking place in Ire-
land?  My mother tells me that back-street surgical abortions were available here in the 1970s.  
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Has Dr. Henchion come across evidence of this?  I do not believe it has come up at the commit-
tee to date.  Have we any evidence that the coat hanger tricks are going on in the back streets 
in Ireland in this day and age?

Dr. Caitriona Henchion: I will take the last question first.  Thankfully, we do not have any 
evidence of back-street surgical abortions.  In response to the second one about what women 
have to go through to ask for a hysterectomy, first, it would not be an appropriate operation for 
fertility control.  There would be surgical sterilisation operations available to women where the 
tubes are tied or ligatured.  That is available but logistically it is not very practical because it 
takes probably over a year for a routine gynaecological appointment to come to the top of the 
list.  Then, having been seen, the woman may be rejected on the grounds of not enough chil-
dren, too young or various matters like that.  The woman is then put on a second waiting list - to 
actually get the procedure done - if that is deemed to be suitable.  There are women who want 
a permanent method and do not want to have to keep on renewing contraceptive methods.   I 
would always say that I refer them but they need to do something else now because they will be 
waiting two to three years for that to become a reality.

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: Does anybody intervene, apart from in the context of the con-
versation between the woman and her doctor to stop her having that procedure?  Dr. Henchion 
mentioned not having enough children.  Who deems that an appropriate question to ask a wom-
an of sound mind?

Dr. Caitriona Henchion: Historically, there would have been ethical committees in hospi-
tals in which those operations were performed.  Those committees would have said women had 
to meet criteria in order to qualify for sterilisation.  In reality, the point is that it is now between 
the woman and her doctor but it is a permanent method and the woman cannot change her mind.  
The effectiveness of it is no greater than, for example, having a Mirena coil fitted.  We would 
generally much prefer to recommend that they have a Mirena coil so that they are at liberty to 
change their minds at any stage in the future.

Senator  Lynn Ruane: I thank the witnesses for their presentation and previous replies.  For 
a while it felt as if they were on trial.  It is an awful shame to sit on a committee like this, which 
should be about women and how women are affected, and have the conversation dragged away 
from that and off in another direction.

Many of the questions I intended to ask have been answered but I would like to tease out 
some of the socioeconomic reasons.  As a recommendation, there is probably a lack of un-
derstanding of what that means.  Initially I recall celebrating this recommendation from the 
Citizens’ Assembly.  I received commentary to the effect that it referred to poverty and wanting 
to abort children born into poverty.  There was a real lack of understanding that this concerns 
women who are affected in some way by their socioeconomic circumstances and that covers 
many issues, including mental health, addiction and age.

It is difficult to sit here every week and separate the political from the personal, particularly 
as a woman who has probably experienced many of the things we speak about every week.  I 
was a service user of the IFPA.  I had a crisis pregnancy and I ticked as many boxes as a woman 
possibly could at the age of 15.  I found the service amazing.  It was comforting and the coun-
selling I received there was very good.  Deputy Rabbitte spoke about representing women with 
crisis pregnancies who proceeded to have children.  I am one of those women and I represent 
them here.  However, this does not mean that I am of the view that women should not have a 
choice.  I was given that choice earlier.  This is not a question of the witnesses coming in here 
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to promote abortion, which is how it is being sold.  The IFPA definitely did not sell abortion 
to me at the age of 15.  I want to put that on the record and to commend the organisation.  As 
a community worker who works with women in deprivation, I continued to refer women who 
found themselves in that situation to the IFPA and I would continue to do that, no matter what 
is said here today.

To tease out the socioeconomic circumstances, the witnesses have some of those reasons in 
the vignettes.  I want to capture today not the barrier to women travelling - because we know 
that the socioeconomic situation is a factor - but how we begin to create criteria that encompass 
everything that socioeconomic status can affect.  That exists in other countries.  What falls un-
der it and how?  Is it impossible and should we just go for it without restriction?  If we do not 
have a ground for socioeconomic reasons should we increase the number of weeks for provid-
ing it without restriction because sometimes those socioeconomic factors might not come to 
light until later?

I probably have not been very clear.  It is difficult to separate the personal from the political 
when I sit in this room.  Perhaps we can speak more to the impact of socioeconomic status on 
women’s decisions.  The witnesses referred to women’s aspirations and, for example, a woman 
wanting to go college and being the first person in her family to do that.  Will people take seri-
ously the fact that women seeking abortion are likely to talk about their own aspirations and 
what they want in terms of quality of life?  How do we capture that in a doctor’s waiting room?

Dr. Caitriona Henchion: There is a lot in there.

Senator  Lynn Ruane: I do not think any of it made sense.  I apologise.

Chairman: There was a lot of commentary as well as questions.  Dr. Henchion can work 
around that.

Dr. Caitriona Henchion: On the subject of how to decide what is a socioeconomic ground 
and how could that be put into a legal framework, I think I have already said that is a very dif-
ficult thing to do.  I think it would probably also take a lot of time to do.  If somebody feels 
that in her particular set of circumstances she cannot continue with the pregnancy, we have to 
trust her.  In having a consultation with somebody, we have to trust that those appear to be real 
concerns and that is the decision the person has made.  Obviously, if somebody is not actually 
certain of what she wants to do, then it is not anybody’s role to try to convince her to go in one 
direction or another.  The role of any consultation, any first contact, will be to identify those 
women who need more support with their decision and make sure that they get those supports, 
whether they are financial, practical or more counselling and more time.  That is really where 
the important thing comes in about identifying socioeconomic problems and making sure that 
those women get the resources so that socioeconomic factors do not necessarily have to be 
deciding factors in what they do about their crisis pregnancy.  I think trying to come up with a 
whole load of socioeconomic grounds that would then allow an abortion is not the way to go 
and would not be helpful.  

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: I thank our witnesses for their presentation.  I only asked the 
question to find out more about the basis on which they come to their conclusions.  In respect 
of counselling, the IFPA gives non-directive counselling.  Can Dr. Henchion give some infor-
mation about the number of women who might have already made up their minds as to what 
they are going to do before they came for counselling and afterwards?  Can she give a general 
ballpark figure?
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Dr. Caitriona Henchion: I am not aware that we have any statistics on that.

Mr. Niall Behan: We have seen a shift over the last couple of years.  At one point, we had 
a lot of women who came to our services with their minds made up.  They were coming to our 
services for telephone numbers and addresses for abortion clinics in England.  That has changed 
because those numbers are more easily available.  What we tend to get these days is some 
women who have made up their mind about what they are going to do, but have a particular ob-
stacle in their way or a particular issue that they want teased out - for example, if it is abortion, 
the issue could be around which procedure they might go for.  They are looking for particular 
information.  In respect of women who have not made up their mind and come to the counsel-
ling session, I would say around 50% of the women who come to us still have unresolved issues 
they want to work through.  They could be leaning towards a particular option but they still have 
issues they want to know about and work through.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: What is the age profile of the women who attend for coun-
selling?  I know the witnesses have already said that they work with women who have already 
had children and those who have not.  Roughly what is the proportion of women with existing 
families and those without?  I know the IFPA deals with rape situations as well.  To what extent 
does that continue to be a feature of the people the IFPA counsels, and of their age profile?

Dr. Caitriona Henchion: I think Mr. Behan probably has more access to the statistical 
information.

Mr. Niall Behan: There is a misconception sometimes that the women who come to our 
services are teenagers.  The vast majority of them, roughly 75%, are between the ages of 24 
and 34.  Around rape, we have very few clients coming to us following a rape.  The number is 
very small.  We work very closely with other agencies such as Women’s Aid if it is a domestic 
violence issue, or the Rape Crisis Centres.  We also provide post-abortion support.  If women 
who do travel for an abortion then come back to us, we can provide post-abortion counselling.  
That counselling is usually about the context in which the unintended pregnancy happened.  It 
can be about a rape, a relationship breakdown, whatever the reason that led to the pregnancy 
being a crisis.  Dr. Henchion and our team of doctors provide the post-abortion medical checks 
that go alongside the counselling.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: Senator Ruane made an interesting reference to comforting 
women.  Previous generations in this country really ignored women and girls, in particular, who 
were pregnant, and cast them out from society, isolated and criminalised them to a huge extent.  
Do the witnesses see the services they provide, in particular counselling, as providing some-
thing that is vital and necessary in attendance with pregnancies of a crisis nature, regardless of 
whether the woman has had an abortion, wants an abortion or goes through with the birth?

Dr. Caitriona Henchion: Absolutely.  The feedback from the women is very much that it is 
a really big support at a time they did not feel supported.  One of the things that counsellors do 
very well, particularly in what is admittedly a very small area where there might be teenagers 
attending the service who might have initially attended not wanting to involve anybody else 
in the situation, is working with them to involve their parents and other family members and 
making sure they are getting the wider support that they need, whatever decision they might 
come to.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: A reference was made earlier to online services.  Let us as-
sume, for example, that the service was legalised.  From a safety point of view, how do the wit-
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nesses feel about it?  The online part of it is what would worry me, that the degree of advice-----

Chairman: The Deputy will have to sum up.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: I am coming to it.  The amount of advice or instruction that 
might be available is lacking and the person, young woman, girl or whatever, might have insuf-
ficient information and might be at risk as a result.  Can the witnesses quantify the extent of 
that risk?

Dr. Caitriona Henchion: I think it is very difficult to quantify but there is no question that 
they are not getting the opportunity to sit down and discuss their concerns with another person 
at the outset.  That is the first part they are missing.  Then there is not that very solid advice of 
“if this happens, this is where you go and it will be fine if you go there”.  That is the other part 
that is missing.  There is no nice, easy follow-up care when anything does go wrong.  Obvi-
ously, then, they are not getting their contraception either.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: This is definitely my last question, Chair.

Chairman: A point of clarification, I hope.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: Definitely.  We have seen statistics produced in evidence 
to the committee comparing Sweden and Switzerland, both developed countries with similar 
societies, which indicate a huge difference in the numbers of abortions taking place.  Do the 
witnesses have any knowledge as to why that might be?

Mr. Niall Behan: The best statistics that we go on are the ones we get from the Department 
of Health in the UK.  They relate to women who give Irish addresses to abortion clinics, mainly 
in England.  We see a trend.  After 1983, after the amendment is passed, we see those figures 
going up and up.  We see the eighth amendment making no impact on the number of women 
travelling to the UK.  When we get to 2001 and 2002, however, we see a change, a reduction.  It 
is an interesting point.  Why have we got this reduction?  Why have we got this doubling of the 
figures in the 18 years after 1983 and then a reduction in the last 16 years that is almost consis-
tent across all the years?  The thing we can point to is the policy changes, the political consensus 
that we had here between Fianna Fáil, Fine Gael, the Labour Party, the Independents and the 
left wing parties in the 1980s around this attempt to improve sexuality education.  Access to 
contraception and the establishment of the Crisis Pregnancy Agency have had a huge impact.  
We can go much further in that regard and get much better access to contraceptive services and 
improve sexuality education.  The law does not impact on those rights but makes it more dif-
ficult and is more harmful to children.

Deputy  Bríd Smith: I also thank the Irish Family Planning Association for the role it has 
played and for the provision of women’s reproductive health in Ireland.  The service has been 
around a long time.  I used it in the 1980s during much darker days for women in terms of ac-
cessing reproductive health care.  I was afraid to go to my doctor to ask for a coil or the morning 
after pill and I shared such fear with many women of my generation because we were in those 
dark times during the 1980s.  If one could not afford a private clinic, the only place one could go 
was the Irish Family Planning Association and it continues to play that role.  I will never forget 
the helpless bewilderment on the faces of counsellors when I told them I wanted an abortion.  
In those days they could not even give me information on how to go about that because it was 
before the Regulation of Information (Services Outside the State For Termination of Pregnan-
cies) Act 1995 and it was illegal to give me the phone number of an abortion clinic in Liverpool.  
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I had to get that number under my own steam.  I thank the doctors, counsellors and those who 
worked tirelessly for women over the past decades and provided those services throughout the 
country.  In many cases it was not just in respect of contraception but general sexual health.

As regards the socioeconomic point and the question of the increasing number of women 
who are in crisis pregnancies because of poverty, do the witnesses have any evidence that pov-
erty impacts on the level of crisis pregnancy?  The lack of access to proper contraception such 
as the permanent reversible contraception of which the witness spoke is a contributory factor.  
I think it important to repeat something Dr. Henchion said in her submission.  She said: “I fre-
quently see women who, having paid all of the costs of going to a private clinic for an abortion, 
for example, perhaps €600 for an abortion at ten weeks plus the cost of her travel, cannot afford 
to pay for post-abortion contraception, particularly their preferred method of a long-acting re-
versible method of contraception”.  Is it not a huge indictment of the services here that we are 
supposed to be concerned about the protection of life in our laws which say we are concerned 
about the foetus and the unborn yet socioeconomically we are condemning more women to 
crisis pregnancies because of the unaffordable cost of proper contraception?  Can the witnesses 
confirm if that is the case?

An alarming statement made by Dr. Henchion which flies in the face of what was said about 
Ireland being one of the safest countries in which to be pregnant is that the increased clandes-
tine and illegal use of the abortion pill means more and more women are left without follow-up 
post-abortion care.  She also said that many of the women she sees do not come back to the 
IFPA for post-abortion care.  Perhaps she could explain why that is so.  I suspect it is related to 
the socioeconomic poverty reasons I have mentioned.  Are those who say this is the safest place 
in the world in which to be pregnant taking into account the IFPA statement which says that 
a substantial number of women are accessing illegal abortions through the abortion pill and, 
therefore, do not have follow-up care?  “It is an unregulated and unsafe practice, the harms of 
which are not being reviewed or measured by any public body.  No one is being held account-
able for this, and the Government cannot continue to ignore it.”  That is an extremely strong 
statement.  I would like the witnesses to expand on how we, as a society, are leaving ourselves 
and society as a whole but women in particular open to severe consequences through ignoring 
their reproductive health in this manner or making it illegal for them to take certain actions.

Dr. Caitriona Henchion: One of the first things one has to do for a health measure to be 
widely adopted is to get rid of cost.  That is what we do with vaccination programmes.  One 
could point out that if people valued it enough they would still get it but if one wants everybody 
to do so, one must get rid of the cost.  That is what is done for public health issues.  If we want to 
tackle the issue of crisis pregnancy, contraception and sexual health education has to be looked 
at as a public health issue and money must be taken out of the equation in order that it cannot 
be a factor.

It is not enough to only take out the cost of contraception.  One needs to make people aware 
of the issues involved or they will not access contraceptive services in the first place.  That defi-
nitely links in to socioeconomic factors because, as I said, a girl who leaves school early may 
have missed out on contraceptive education at school because it might have been delivered too 
late.  A girl who does not attend school very frequently may not have received that education.  
We need to address that issue and ensure we are looking at it as a public health measure.

There are many reasons why women do not come for post-abortion care.  It is a difficult 
question to answer because if they do not attend, I do not see them and, therefore, cannot answer 
completely for those who do not come.  Some women come to the IFPA and are very anxious 
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about doing so.  They are anxious that they may have a complication or about being judged and 
the attitudes that people might have towards them and are at pains to try to justify their decision 
because they think others might feel abortion is only okay for some people.  Those are reasons 
that people might not want to come.  Because many women do not see a health care provider 
before they have an abortion, in order to do so afterwards they have to again find out where that 
service is and then go and tell their story all over again to a new person and that is a difficulty.  
If they were going back to the place where they had the abortion, that would not be a deterrent.  
Those are some of the reasons women do not attend for care.

The risk to a woman’s life as a result of an illegal abortion using online medication is ex-
ceptionally low but that is not to say that women using such medication have a good health 
care experience.  There may be minor or low-level risks such as not getting their contraception 
or enduring a procedure that is painful, uncomfortable and frightening while being alone with 
absolutely no support and nowhere to turn and being worried that if something goes wrong they 
will be found out rather than get help.  Those are examples of safety issues in terms of illegal 
abortion.

Deputy  Bríd Smith: Deputy Clare Daly and others teased out the issue of discrimination 
against women in terms of being able to access proper heath care.  Can Dr. Henchion comment 
on the number of women with disabilities or who are in direct provision or asylum seekers 
whom she sees and whether they are further discriminated against and, if so, how?

Dr. Caitriona Henchion: A considerable number of women in direct provision may attend 
the IFPA.  It is the easiest group to identify as experiencing further layers of obstacles and dis-
crimination.  The reason for that is that such women do not have documents.  In order to get 
documents to travel, they must make disclosures of their situation to non-health care providers.  
They have to get a travel document that must be stamped in a Garda station.  An undocumented 
migrant seeking asylum will automatically be very fearful of having to go to a Garda station.  
They also have to go to the Department of Justice.  They have to disclose their situation, get an 
entry visa for the country to which they plan to go and a re-entry visa for Ireland.  All of these 
documents cost money, yet, without having any income, they are expected also to be able to 
find the money to travel and to pay for an abortion.  If they wish to seek help in that regard, they 
again have to make further disclosures of their health situation possibly to a charity or other 
agencies, from which they might try to get funding.

Deputy  Bríd Smith: What is the position for people with disabilities?

Dr. Caitriona Henchion: We do not see people with disabilities very often.  I think there 
will clearly be issues for a woman who needs a carer in order to travel, because at the very least 
she has had to disclose her situation to that carer.  Even with something as simple as being deaf 
and having a limited ability to speak, people with these disabilities are expected to ring a clinic 
in the UK and make an appointment for themselves, yet one is not allowed to assist them in that 
way.

Senator  Ned O’Sullivan: Let me preface my two short questions with a comment, which 
I hope the Chairman will allow as I have not taken up too much time to date.

I have the utmost confidence in Senator Catherine Noone as Chairman, and I believe any 
reasonable person who has been watching these proceedings since their commencement will 
share that view.
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On a personal level, I object most strongly to the suggestion that this committee is some 
type of a rubber stamp exercise.  I cannot speak for anybody else but I never rubber stamped 
anything and I never will.  I would not give this committee the credence of my continued pres-
ence if I thought that is what it was.  I came onto the committee with an open mind, not an 
empty mind, but I want to learn.  I am disturbed that some of the agencies that have been invited 
to come before us have chosen not to come to the committee.  I am open to information.  I have 
drilled down into the report of the Citizens’ Assembly and I have studied every aspect of this 
committee.  I want to put a stop to the legend that people have their minds made up.  I am not 
quite sure exactly where I am on the spectrum yet.

I welcome the witnesses and I thank them for their presentation and the documents they 
provided, which I find useful.  When a woman presents to Dr. Henchion with the intention of 
having an abortion, is that a matter between the Irish Family Planning Association, IFPA, and 
the woman in question or does she encourage or seek the engagement and-or involvement of the 
father of the unborn child in the first instance?  Does she seek his counsel or advice?  Does he 
have a role in this decision or is he out of the equation?  If the woman in question is exception-
ally young, would Dr. Henchion welcome engagement and seek involvement from her parents?

I am somewhat concerned about Dr. Henchion’s statement that she has seen many women 
who have had illegal abortions performed.  I am not quite sure what her position is on that.  
When a woman comes to Dr. Henchion and says she has had an illegal abortion - I would have 
the utmost sympathy for the woman - is it not illegal?  If something is illegal, it is illegal.  Does 
Dr. Henchion think it is incumbent on the Irish Family Planning Association, IFPA, to share that 
information or in any way refer it to a statutory body or State agency such as the HSE?

Dr. Caitriona Henchion: On the question of whether we seek the involvement of the puta-
tive father in the case, the answer is “No”, we do not.  If a woman would like to have her partner 
involved at any stage, that is completely encouraged.  We do not actively seek involvement of 
any third party in that respect.  I think I already have answered the question on minors in so far 
as counsellors are very proactive about trying to involve parental engagement in the situation 
for the good of the young person and to give her support and protection.

On the question of how many women I have seen who have had an illegal abortions, I prob-
ably said that we see them, but we do not see many.  We are probably only seeing a very tiny 
percentage of those women who are having illegal abortions, because they are reluctant to come 
and they will only come if there is a problem.  On the question of whether I would report those 
women, I do not.  I feel my primary concerns are their confidentiality and health and well-being.  
I would feel that if I were going to get into the situation where I would report them, it will de-
ter them further from seeking medical attention.  That creates a more unsafe environment for 
women.

Senator  Ned O’Sullivan: The word “report” is not the word I had in mind.  If I used it, 
I was mistaken.  I asked whether Dr. Henchion would consult or engage with those agencies, 
because I am sure they also have the health of that woman uppermost in their minds.  Maybe 
the IFPA would not have all the facilities that would be available to the statutory agencies such 
as the HSE.  I am somewhat surprised that Dr. Henchion would exclude that option.

Where the partner or the putative father has become involved, has Dr. Henchion found that 
helpful to the woman, to the situation in general, or is it to the contrary?

Dr. Caitriona Henchion: There is no question that a supportive partner is very helpful to 
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the woman and to the situation in general.  It makes the situation for everybody much more easy 
to manage.  The outcome afterwards is likely to be better as well.  It is much better if a person 
is supported through a situation like that.

Senator  Ned O’Sullivan: I thank Dr. Henchion.

Senator  Paul Gavan: I thank the witnesses for their presentations.  I am sorry that they 
have had to put up with some of the nonsense today.

I wish to clarify a point before I begin.  The Chairman will know, as indeed will Senator 
Buttimer, that I always find it really hard to agree with the Fine Gael Party on pretty much most 
things.  

Deputy  Jonathan O’Brien: Pretty much everything.

Senator  Paul Gavan: Deputy O’Brien is correct, pretty much everything, but I have full 
faith in Senator Catherine Noone as Chairman.  I see her each week trying to do her best in 
very difficult circumstances.  While we are on opposite sides politically, I could not in any way 
criticise how she has chaired these meetings each week.  It is important that is noted because of 
these constant attempts by a small section of people to undermine the work of the committee.

I found the vignettes important and powerful.  The members of the committee will make 
up their minda and make recommendations in the coming weeks.  Again, we have not done 
that yet.  If there is a referendum next year and the people vote to repeal the eighth amendment 
and the Oireachtas then passes legislation which legalises abortion in certain restricted circum-
stances, will that meet the needs of the people Dr. Henchion is dealing with each day?

Dr. Caitriona Henchion: I do not think so.

Senator  Paul Gavan: Will Dr. Henchion expand on that please?

Dr. Caitriona Henchion: I think trying to lay out specific grounds, specific risks, or spe-
cific categories of women who are somehow entitled to an abortion, while excluding others, 
will leave a great many women still in the same position they are in now, trying to travel for an 
abortion or accessing abortion online.  If that is the problem we are addressing, then we will not 
address it if we make abortion subject to specific criteria.

Senator  Paul Gavan: My final question, which I know has been dealt with to a degree, will 
be brief.  I am struck by the references to abortion pills and how access to these pills is increas-
ingly widespread.  It strikes me as being completely bizarre that collectively we can ignore that.  
Is that not bizarre?

Dr. Caitriona Henchion: Yes.  People access many things online now.  As such, it is not 
particularly surprising that if one cannot access a service locally, one will look on the Internet.  
People will go online and, if they find a solution to their problem that may not be perfect but is 
still a solution, they will use that solution.  The only way we can address that really is by facing 
up to the fact that Irish women are having abortions every day and we need to actually provide 
those services in Ireland.  Then that way we can make sure that they are properly monitored, 
that they are properly overseen and that they are of high standards.  We can say that as a country, 
the HSE for example, is accountable for them, they must be of good quality.  

Chairman: Thank you.  I call Deputy McGrath who has six minutes.
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Deputy  Mattie McGrath: I welcome the guests.  The IFPA received €360,000 from Irish 
Aid over the period 2016 to 2018 for a project in Bolivia named ‘Promoting the sexual and 
reproductive health of youth in Bolivia’.  The three partners in this project are the IFPA, the 
Centro de Investigación, Educación y Servicios, CIES, which is a Spanish or Portuguese or-
ganisation, and International Planned Parenthood.  Does the Irish Aid grant aid to the project 
promote abortion or does it offer abortion related services?

Chairman: Before the witness answers, can I remind Members again that we are here to 
examine the recommendations of the Citizens’ Assembly?

Mr. Niall Behan: The simple answer to that is no it does not.

Deputy  Mattie McGrath: No it does not.

Mr. Niall Behan: The answer to the Deputy’s question is the project does not.

Deputy  Mattie McGrath: It does not.  That is the witness’s definite answer.  The IFPA pro-
vides a secretariat for all-party Oireachtas interest groups on the sexual and reproductive health 
rights, SRHR.  In an email to Irish Aid, on 4 May 2016, a Ms Maeve Taylor, a senior policy and 
advocacy officer of the IFPA stated that they prepared-----

Chairman: Could we have quiet in the room for Deputy McGrath please?

Deputy  Mattie McGrath: Please, I would appreciate it.  They prepared a briefing on the 
work of the CIES for the all-party Oireachtas interest group on SRHR.  That is a nice sidetrack 
for the IFPA.  Is any of the Irish Aid grant aid being used for this form of advocacy and cam-
paigning, that is the secretarial services for Oireachtas members?  Not the secretariat here, the 
secretariat of the IFPA and other agencies, in case our clerk is getting worried.  Just clarify that 
please.

Mr. Niall Behan: No it does not.  The project is focused on services for the most vulnerable 
young people in Bolivia and that is where the resources go.

Deputy  Mattie McGrath: We are 100% certain on that.

Mr. Niall Behan: Absolutely, yes.

Deputy  Mattie McGrath: It is interesting to see this secretariat idea now being expanded 
by the National Women’s Council of Ireland being the secretariat for the Oireachtas Women’s 
Caucus that includes the Ministers, Deputies Fitzgerald and Zappone and the Minister of State, 
Deputy Mitchell O’Connor.  Transparency has been blurred and the lobbying Act may have 
been evaded too.  I believe it was a crafty process.  It was not-----

Chairman: I suggest perhaps that Deputy McGrath make a complaint to the appropriate 
body here in the House on that note.

Deputy  Mattie McGrath:  I am just wondering about it.  I have just asked a question.

Chairman: I am just trying to keep it relevant.

Deputy  Mattie McGrath: They are in representing the IFPA so I am asking the question.  
I am not accusing the Chair today of being biased but let me ask the questions.

Chairman: The Deputy is referring to people who are not here.
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Deputy  Mattie McGrath: No, I am just referring to activities that they are carrying out and 
the secretariat work they are providing for other people.

Chairman: The Deputy is also referring to Members of the House who are not here to be 
fair.

Deputy  Mattie McGrath: No.  They are Ministers and I refer to the work carried out by 
this secretariat, not the one here.

Senator  Jerry Buttimer: On a point of order, if I may.

Chairman: If it is a point of order.

Senator  Jerry Buttimer: Could the Deputy inform us what is the nature of the work is he 
referring to in terms of the involvement of Ministers and the Members of the Oireachtas?

Chairman: I do not know if that is actually a point of order but go ahead.

Deputy  Mattie McGrath: I can see for myself what it is.  It is a scary area of maybe not be-
ing transparent and having transparency and distance among the IFPA and these caucus groups.

Chairman: Can we let the witness come in on that please?

Mr. Niall Behan: If there are questions around the way the IFPA does its work I am happy 
to answer questions around that.  I am not sure what the question is but-----

Chairman: Silence in the room please.

Deputy  Mattie McGrath: Sorry for interrupting.  This is unacceptable and it is happening 
all the time.  Giggles, laughing and scoffing and it is totally unacceptable.  What-----

Chairman: I agree with the Deputy.

Deputy  Mattie McGrath: I appreciate that.  However, something has to be done about it.  
People watching at home can see what is going on.  It is a cabal and it is unacceptable and it is 
happening all the time.  The Chair earlier interrupted because I could not hear when there was 
noise and talk, and she asked for-----

Chairman: I think the Deputy will admit that I have been trying to address the issue.

Deputy  Mattie McGrath: I will admit it, yes.

Chairman: I cannot put gags on people but I am trying to be as fair to everyone as I can.

Deputy  Mattie McGrath: We need respect, especially from the Gallery.  It is not a Gallery 
show.

Chairman: Would the Deputy please ask the questions.

Deputy  Mattie McGrath: I will and I thank the Chair.  I am sorry, the witness was answer-
ing.

Mr. Niall Behan: Yes, I am not too sure, and I mean this respectfully, what the question is.  
If it is a question around our work with CIES in Bolivia and Irish Aid that is very focused on 
what happens in Bolivia.
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Chairman: Sorry, members are continuing to speak.

Deputy  Mattie McGrath: Look at it.  I am going to leave because it is useless.

Chairman: Sorry Deputy.

Deputy  Mattie McGrath: I cannot hear the answer.  It is unacceptable.

Chairman: Can the witness repeat the answer please and can we please have quiet?

Deputy  Mattie McGrath: How many more times is this going to happen?  I  do not inter-
rupt anybody or talk when somebody is talking.  I leave occasionally to do other business and I 
get the Chair’s permission.  It is total disrespect.  Total-----

Chairman: First of all-----

Deputy  Mattie McGrath: -----and absolute.

Chairman: -----the Deputy does not need my permission.

Deputy  Mattie McGrath: Sorry?  No, but I always let the Chair know-----

Chairman: Just let me say what I have to say.  The Deputy does not need my permission 
to leave nor does Deputy O’Reilly, who texted me earlier to tell me she was in the Dáil, nor 
does anybody else who has other business in these Houses so the Deputy is no exception in that 
sense.

Deputy  Mattie McGrath: No.  I did not say that I was.  It is common courtesy to tell the 
Chair that I had a meeting and I would be back at 3.30 p.m.

Chairman: I appreciate the Deputy’s courtesy.  Unless there is anything additional to add-
----

Deputy  Mattie McGrath: No, the witness is answering the question.

Mr. Niall Behan: What I am saying is that we have a project with an organisation called 
CIES which is a Bolivia-based organisation.  That is focused on providing services to vulner-
able young people in Bolivia, and part of that project is funded by Irish Aid.  None of the 
resources that go to that project are used for advocacy-----

Chairman: With the greatest of respect Mr. Behan we will let the Citizens Assembly of 
Bolivia look after Bolivia.  We will deal with our situation here in Ireland.

Deputy  Mattie McGrath: I am interested in Bolivia, in fairness my question is on it.  He 
is entitled to give the answer.

Chairman: In fairness to both the witness and the Deputy,  we are trying to stick to the 
Citizens’ Assembly’s recommendations.

Deputy  Mattie McGrath: Well, we have.  We are questioning the IFPA, we are in the 
course of asking questions of them.  I also want to say that the witness or his colleague stated 
earlier that the women who attended undercover were not pregnant.   However, I want to clarify 
that some of them had attended earlier when they were pregnant and they got that advice; that 
was why they were so concerned and went back to do the undercover.  The witness also said 
that it was completely underhand and, I do not know what word was used to describe it, but I 
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am saying that the witnesses have carried out the same kind of covert questioning themselves 
so they cannot have standards for one and not for the other.  Just to clarify-----

Chairman: We have dealt with this point.

Deputy  Mattie McGrath: No, to clarify that.  The witness stated earlier that the women, 
with all due respect, the women who attended undercover were not pregnant.  They were not at 
the time but some of them had, at least two or three, been pregnant.  I am also concerned about, 
and I tried to interject on a point of order earlier, the witness stating earlier that the gardaí were 
embarrassed by the investigation.  I know that if I complain to the gardaí or any citizen, it does 
not come back that they are embarrassed.  We are encouraged every day of the week to make 
a report however trivial or frivolous or whatever, so I am wondering how he knows or got that 
insight from the investigating gardaí that they were embarrassed.

Chairman: We have already covered this ground.

Deputy  Mattie McGrath: No, no I have not.  The question is-----

Chairman: Really again, I have to repeat this point-----

Deputy  Mattie McGrath: No, it is a question.  It is a direct question.  How does the wit-
ness have that information?

Chairman: Okay, well let him answer the direct question.

Mr. Niall Behan: There is a direct question there.  I had not intended to refer to any garda 
or anybody on this; I was just saying that really around the level of accusations that are being 
put to us that the gardaí-----

Chairman: Stick to the facts please.

Mr. Niall Behan: My interpretation of when we, the two counsellors, met with the gardaí 
was that they were embarrassed.  That is all I am saying.  They were embarrassed to be asking 
those questions. That is all-----

Deputy  Mattie McGrath: I do not know the officers concerned but I think that is an outra-
geous statement.  They have a duty to do.

Chairman: The Deputy is entitled to give his own opinion.

Deputy  Mattie McGrath: Yes. Can I continue please?  I raised this matter.

Chairman: Well, the Deputy is over time.  On a point of clarification.

Deputy  Mattie McGrath: Please, I asked about this investigation several times on the Dáil 
floor and raised it with several Ministers and the previous Taoiseach.  It went from an investiga-
tion down to an inquiry and then a HSE report.  I think it is a pity that Deputy Fitzpatrick and 
Senator Mullen asked very pertinent questions today but they did not get answers.  I am not 
getting them either.  It is strange and the people that are watching can judge for themselves that 
any of the rest of the committee do not seem to be concerned about those issues only to say that 
we are undermining the work.  We are here to do a job as Senator O’Sullivan said and do our 
best, that is all we can do.

Chairman: So am I.
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Deputy  Mattie McGrath: Yes.  I am not saying anything to the Chair here.

Chairman: The Deputy is over his time.

Deputy  Mattie McGrath: I just think it is strange that none of the other members of the 
committee is concerned enough about this dirty linen that has not been washed.

Chairman: Excuse me.  I have already said in this meeting that we will have a debate on 
that issue next week.  Can we park it please?  I call Senator Buttimer.

Deputy  Mattie McGrath: On a point of clarification, on what issue?

Chairman: It is about what the Deputy just discussed.  I will talk to him about it afterwards.

Deputy  Mattie McGrath: That is a funny way of doing business.

Chairman: It is not.

Deputy  Mattie McGrath: It is.

Chairman: Senator Buttimer has the floor.

Senator  Jerry Buttimer: I reaffirm my support for the Chairman and the work she is do-
ing.  I very much welcome the fact that she is an impartial, fair and balanced Chairman.  It is 
imperative that the people who are home watching and listening to these proceedings would 
understand what is being done in a systematic and deliberate way to undermine the Chairman 
and all of us who are here, as Senator O’Sullivan rightly said, to find out information.  There is 
a duty on everybody, irrespective of their viewpoint and from what vantage point they come, 
to engage with this process.  As Senator Mullen knows quite well, when we held the hearings 
on the Protection of Life During Pregnancy Bill, I met him and the former Senator Walsh and 
individually went through with them a list of the people who were to come before us, and we 
put in place a process where non-members of the committee were involved in those hearings.  
Equally, it beggars belief that witnesses who refused to come in here on a Wednesday afternoon 
can appear on a television or radio programme and have their views articulated and announced 
when they cannot come before the Oireachtas.  We are elected members.  All of us have differ-
ent viewpoints and that is fine.

Chairman: I ask the Senator to come back to business before us.

Senator  Jerry Buttimer: I will, but this is important.

Senator  Rónán Mullen: On a point of order-----

Senator  Jerry Buttimer: No, I am-----

Senator  Rónán Mullen: I am not confirming anything that Senator Buttimer has just said.

Senator  Jerry Buttimer: The Senator will be aware that we met the former clerk to the 
Oireachtas Committee, Paul Kelly, to discuss the hearings on the Protection of Life During 
Pregnancy Bill and the Senator, along with the former Senator Jim Walsh, was a part of those.

Senator  Rónán Mullen: Public hearings?

Senator  Jerry Buttimer: Yes.
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Senator  Rónán Mullen: I do not know that the Senator is making any particular point 
involving me because I was-----

Senator  Jerry Buttimer: I was crediting the Senator with-----

Chairman: If the Senators want to have a row-----

Senator  Rónán Mullen: Leave me out of it.

Senator  Jerry Buttimer: I was crediting the Senator with working with that process rather 
than against it.

Chairman: I would be grateful if the Senator, and I appreciate that he is very supportive-----

Senator  Jerry Buttimer: This is important.

Chairman: I appreciate that but it is important the Senator does not try to pick a fight with 
Senator Mullen.

Senator  Jerry Buttimer: I am not doing so.

Senator  Rónán Mullen: Thank you.

Senator  Jerry Buttimer: I am trying to defend the integrity of the process of the Oireach-
tas committee system which works quite well.  This committee works quite well.  The point I 
am making is that there is a duty on those of us on all sides of the debate.  I very much welcome 
that.  This is a sensitive, complex matter; it is not black and white.  Everybody should be in here 
debating and discussing it.

I thank Dr. Henchion and Mr. Behan for coming here this afternoon.  I thank them for 
presentations and commend them on their work.  I ask Dr. Henchion if it is fair to say that the 
values system and the mission statement of the Irish Family Planning Association, IFPA, is well 
known?

Dr. Caitriona Henchion: It is fair to say that, yes.

Senator  Jerry Buttimer: Anybody who does not know that-----

Dr. Caitriona Henchion: I believe it is stated in the first paragraph of our presentation that 
we provide sexual health information and health care to people.

Senator  Jerry Buttimer: I thank Dr. Henchion for that.

Mr. Behan in his remarks, and if I am wrong on this, I apologise, said there was a shift in 
services and a shift in the way in which women were interacting or engaging with the IFPA.  
Will he elaborate on that?  

My final question is to Dr. Henchion and if I misinterpreted what she said, I apologise.  Will 
she elaborate on her point about having an abortion on socio-economic grounds?  I believe she 
said it was not the way to go but I might be wrong on that.  Will she elaborate on that view?  I 
thank her again for being here.

Dr. Caitriona Henchion: With regard to having an abortion for socio-economic grounds, 
what I am trying to say, and perhaps it is a little complex, is that in so far as the vast majority 
of abortions are occurring for socio-economic reasons, trying to draw up a list or some formula 
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for deciding whether somebody should be entitled to an abortion on socio-economic grounds is 
not a practical thing to do and not a practical solution for addressing that issue.  The only way 
to address that issue is by making access more open than that.

Chairman: Thank you, Dr. Henchion and Senator Buttimer.

Senator  Jerry Buttimer: I also asked Mr. Behan a question.

Chairman: Apologies, yes.

Mr. Niall Behan: With respect to the way the services have changed or what we find are 
the needs of clients who have been using the services during the past 15 or 20 years, previously 
women came to us looking for phone numbers and addresses and where to go in the UK, they 
are coming to us now much more informed, having done an Internet search.  They have an idea 
about where they want to go if they have made up their mind that they want to have an abortion.  
They may have a question.  The other major shift we have seen is that the stigma is reducing, 
although it is still there and plays a huge part.  The woman coming to us now will probably have 
told more people than the woman who came to us 20 years ago about her intention to have an 
abortion or, if she is coming back for post-abortion care, about having had an abortion.  We put 
this down to a breaking down of the stigma.  We see more of our clients now presenting with 
someone.  About 50% of the women who come to use our services present with either a friend 
or a relation.  That is broken down roughly half and half between a male partner and either a 
mother, a friend, a sister or an aunt, where previously the women were mostly presenting alone.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Behan.

I want to note apologies were received from Deputy Louise O’Reilly earlier, who is now 
here, and from Deputy Kelleher, who is dealing with other business in the Dáil.  

I thank our witnesses, Dr. Henchion and Mr. Behan, for attending today.  They have been 
very helpful to us in our deliberations.  We are grateful to them for attending.

I propose we take 20-minute sos and resume at 4.15 in order that people can get a cup of 
coffee.  We will resume in public session with out next witness at 4.15 p.m.

Sitting suspended at 3.57 p.m. and resumed at 4. 23 p.m.

Health Care Issues - Crisis Pregnancy Management: Ms Janice Donlon, HSE

Chairman: I welcome the witnesses to this afternoon’s meeting.  I have already asked them 
if they are aware of the defamation issues.  If there is any issue I will highlight that.

I invite Ms Donlon to make her presentation. 

Ms Janice Donlon: I thank the Chairman for inviting us here today.  My name is Janice 
Donlon and I am the project manager for funded services with the Health Service Executive, 
HSE, sexual health and crisis pregnancy programme.  I am joined today by Helen Deely who 
is the head of the programme.  We have been asked to address the committee on the supports 
provided by the HSE sexual health and crisis pregnancy programme and on the use of the abor-
tion pill.
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The information will be presented in two sections: first, I will outline supports provided 
by the programme to those experiencing a crisis pregnancy.  I will then talk about behavioural 
trends and research relating to crisis pregnancy, including use of the abortion pill.  

The HSE sexual health and crisis pregnancy programme is a national programme situated 
within the health and well-being division of the HSE.  The programme is mandated by a statu-
tory instrument to reduce the number of crisis pregnancies and to provide support to those who 
have a crisis pregnancy.  Legislation defines crisis pregnancy as “a pregnancy which is neither 
planned nor desired by the woman concerned and which represents a personal crisis for her”.  
The programme understands this definition to also include the experiences of those women 
for whom a planned or desired pregnancy develops into a crisis over time due to a change in 
circumstances.

A pregnancy may be considered a crisis for several reasons.  Crisis pregnancy can be related 
to a perceived inability to cope with a child at that time; being too young or too old; not being 
in a financial position to support a child; and the potential impact that becoming a parent at 
that point might have on their education, training or employment.  Research finds that approxi-
mately one third of women who have been pregnant and one fifth of men who have experienced 
a pregnancy in their lifetime have experienced a crisis pregnancy.

The programme funds 15 individual crisis pregnancy counselling services which operate 
out of 40 plus locations nationwide to provide free crisis pregnancy counselling.  Details of 
these crisis pregnancy counselling services can be found on www.positiveoptions.ie.  Crisis 
pregnancy counselling and information on all three options: parenting, adoption and abortion 
are provided under the legal framework of Regulation of Information (Services outside the 
State for Termination of Pregnancies) Act 1995, also known as the abortion information Act.  
The Act sets out how information about legal abortion services outside Ireland may be given to 
individuals or groups in Ireland.

Crisis pregnancy counselling services are funded by the HSE under detailed governance 
arrangements and underpinned by a quality framework, including access to supervision and 
training supports and guidelines and protocols to support services and their staff working in this 
complex area.

Counselling for a woman involves creating space to allow her to discuss and reflect on her 
crisis pregnancy and to support her through the decision-making process.  While many women 
experiencing a crisis pregnancy resolve the crisis for themselves, or have support from fam-
ily and friends, research finds that they see a clear role for a counsellor.  The importance of a 
supportive listener and non-judgmental support allows them to consider how the pregnancy 
impacts on their lives.  It is the counsellor’s role to provide space and time to facilitate women 
to work through difficult conflicts in a non-judgmental and non-directive manner.

During a counselling session the client may request information on the options available to 
her.  Any woman considering parenting a child will be made aware of the various organisations 
and community support groups that offer information and support in relation to parenting, ei-
ther alone or as a couple.  Many of these organisations are also funded through the programme.  
Such organisations and groups have detailed user-friendly booklets touching on many issues 
of parenting, including information on rights and entitlements and accessing support services.

In respect of adoption crisis pregnancy counsellors are able to provide a client with some 
of the basic principles surrounding the process of adoption and the rights of birth parents and 
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adoptive parents.  However, if a woman chooses adoption as an option she will be appropriately 
counselled and advised at all stages of the adoption process by an adoption social worker, either 
with the Tusla adoption service or an accredited body.

If, after appropriate counselling on all options, a woman makes the decision to terminate her 
pregnancy she should be given as much information as is necessary.  Information about abor-
tion services in other countries may be made available under certain conditions.  The law on the 
subject was passed in 1995 and is usually known as the abortion information Act.  The Act sets 
out how information about legal abortion services outside Ireland may be given to individuals.  
Information on how to access abortion services, including names and addresses of clinics can 
be provided as can information on the types of procedure that may be available to her.  Crisis 
pregnancy counsellors are not medically trained and any specific medical questions are referred 
to the woman’s general practitioner.

All information should be provided in a manner that is accurate, unbiased, impartial and in 
accordance with the law.  This is necessary to allow the woman to make an informed decision as 
to the most appropriate course of action for her.  Information may be given in different formats, 
including written material which the client can take home with her.

The numbers of women attending crisis pregnancy counselling services has fallen signifi-
cantly in recent years.  In 2010 4,662 individual clients attended for crisis pregnancy counsel-
ling, by 2016 that number had fallen to 2,570.  The majority of women attending crisis preg-
nancy counselling services are between the ages of 25 and 34. 

It is recognised by us and the services that in the 20 years since the commencement of the 
Regulation of Information (Services Outside the State For Termination of Pregnancies) Act 
1995 there have been many developments in technology, including access to the Internet.  Many 
women are now bypassing crisis pregnancy counselling services and accessing information on 
abortion services directly from the Internet.  While the numbers attending services are decreas-
ing, counselling services report that those attending services are presenting with more complex 
and multiple issues.  The challenge for the programme and the counselling services is to ensure 
that women in most need of crisis pregnancy services and supports feel that the services are 
relevant to them and will meet their needs.

Many of the counselling services funded by the programme also support women and their 
partners through the diagnosis of a fatal foetal abnormality or life limiting condition.  Additional 
training and support has been provided to these services to ensure they are able to respond to the 
needs of this client group.  Counselling services have forged links with maternity units and have 
the expertise and the capacity to support women and their partners through this difficult time.

I shall now turn to the issue of crisis pregnancy agencies, which are not funded by the 
State.  Some organisations that advertise as crisis pregnancy counselling services have a hid-
den agenda.  The service they provide is designed to influence the choice a woman makes and 
to pressure a woman into doing something she may not want to do.  Once these agencies have 
been contacted by a client they can seek to delay the counselling process and, in certain cases, 
show clients inappropriate images or use other tactics in an effort to influence their decision.  
These organisations are not State funded and women are advised to find out as much informa-
tion as possible about a pregnancy service before they make an appointment.  All HSE sexual 
health and crisis pregnancy programme funded services are advertised on positiveoptions.ie and 
will provide non-directive, non-judgmental counselling.
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Post-abortion services that are available include post-abortion counselling provided by the 
same funded services which provide crisis pregnancy counselling.  Details of these post-abor-
tion counselling providers are available on abortionaftercare.ie.

Information on the availability of free post-abortion counselling in Ireland is also provided 
by abortion clinics in the UK and the Netherlands.  The programme links with abortion pro-
viders to ensure the information is made available to women who have travelled from Ireland.  
Post-abortion psychological support allows a woman a safe space in which to explore and ar-
ticulate her feelings, whatever they may be, towards the decision made and perhaps the experi-
ence of the abortion itself.  A client may require a number of counselling sessions post abortion 
and the counsellor is available to support the woman depending on her individual needs.  A 
woman may attend for post-abortion counselling shortly after her abortion or she may attend 
at a later stage if issues emerge related to other life events.  The number of women who access 
post-abortion counselling has remained steady over the last number of years and in 2016 a total 
of 1,377 clients were seen for post-abortion counselling.

A post-abortion medical check-up is also available for women to ensure they have fully 
recovered from their procedure.  A post-abortion check-up normally involves a blood pressure 
check and an examination of the woman’s abdomen.  The doctor will confirm that the preg-
nancy has ended, check that bleeding pattern is normal and there is no infection and will assist 
the client with their contraceptive needs.

A number of the services funded to provide crisis pregnancy and post-abortion counselling 
services also provide free post-abortion medical check-ups.  The details of these services are 
available on abortionaftercare.ie.  Attendance at the medical checkup also allows an opportu-
nity for the doctor to refer the women to post-abortion counselling if such a referral appears 
beneficial.  The numbers attending these services is low; in 2016, a total of 442 women attended 
medical check-ups funded by the programme.  Women may attend their GP on their return if 
required or, depending on the type of procedure they have undergone, may not require a post-
abortion medical check-up, for example with early medical abortion.

I shall now address some behavioural trends and the research relating to crisis pregnancy, 
including use of the abortion pill.  As a core function of its work, the programme monitors be-
havioural trends relating to its mandates, using a range of tools and indicators including general 
population surveys and statistics.  Research informs us that crisis pregnancies happen to women 
and their partners from all different ages, socio-economic backgrounds and with different rela-
tionship statuses.  The majority are married, engaged or in steady relationships when the crisis 
pregnancy occurs.  The most common reasons the pregnancy is seen as a crisis is because it was 
not planned or the woman and her partner consider themselves too young.  The average age at 
which a crisis pregnancy occurs is stable at 24 years for women and 25 years for men.

When we consider the outcomes of crisis pregnancy we can see that parenting is by far the 
most common outcome for those who experience a crisis pregnancy.  A survey of the general 
population found that when asked about their most recent crisis pregnancy 73% of women 
reported that they chose to parent.  In the same general population survey, 2% of those asked 
about their most recent crisis pregnancy reported that they chose adoption.  Traditionally in 
Ireland adoption was a common response for women experiencing a crisis pregnancy; however, 
the number of women placing their babies for adoption has decreased significantly in recent 
decades.  A figure of 24% of women in the same general population survey who reported expe-
rience of a crisis pregnancy reported that they chose to have an abortion following their most 
recent crisis pregnancy. 
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With regard to abortions in other jurisdictions it is well documented that many women travel 
from Ireland to other countries to access legal abortion services.  The programme analyses data 
collated by the Department of Health in the UK and the Ministry of Health in the Netherlands 
on the number of women travelling to those countries from Ireland for an abortion on an annual 
basis.  In the majority of cases, women travelling from Ireland for an abortion travel to Eng-
land.  In 2016, a total of 3,265 women gave Irish addresses at UK abortion services, represent-
ing a rate of 3.2 per 1,000 women.  There has been a gradual decline in the number of women 
availing of abortion services in the UK since 2001.  In that year there were 6,673 abortions to 
women from Ireland in UK abortion clinics, representing a rate of 7.5 per 1,000 women.  The 
Ministry of Health in the Netherlands has collated data on women providing Irish addresses in 
Dutch abortion clinics since 2010.  Prior to 2010, the programme linked directly with the main 
abortion service providers in the Netherlands to establish the number of women providing Irish 
addresses there.  In 2015, 34 women were recorded to have provided Irish addresses in abortion 
clinics in the Netherlands.  These figures have significantly declined since their peak in 2006 
when the number was 461.  The Netherlands has emerged as the only other jurisdiction to which 
women from Ireland have been travelling for abortion procedures in any significant numbers.

I shall now turn to the numbers of abortions in Ireland under the Protection of Life During 
Pregnancy Act 2013.  The Act defines the circumstances within which abortion in Ireland can 
be legally performed.  The total number of abortions carried out in accordance with this Act in 
2016 was 25.  There were 26 in each of the years 2014 and 2015, with 2014 being the first year 
in which data was reported.

On the issue of abortion pills, they are designed to induce an abortion for a woman who is 
less than nine weeks pregnant.  Abortion pills are used by abortion providers in medically su-
pervised clinics in countries where abortion is legal.  These are referred to as medical abortions.  
The programme is aware that some women are accessing abortion pills in Ireland from interna-
tional online providers.  In order to try to understand the incidence of this, the programme set up 
a reporting relationship with the Health Products Regulatory Authority in relation to the number 
of abortion pills seized by customs officers annually.  The programme has provided training and 
support to all funded services on this emerging issue.  All services have developed protocols in 
this area and training manuals and online resources have been updated with relevant informa-
tion.

The reasons women may be accessing abortion pills online are cost and access.  For women 
who have made the decision to terminate a pregnancy, the cost associated with travelling from 
Ireland to another country for a medically supervised termination is high.  Research finds that 
higher earning women are more likely to travel to other countries for abortions over their lower 
earning counterparts.  Until recently it was difficult to make an assessment of the level to which 
this practice is occurring as limited information was available.  Recently published research 
suggests that more women are contacting online providers of abortion pills annually and be-
coming more aware about the availability of these drugs online.  As the committee has been 
informed by a previous witness Dr. Abigail Aiken, her study found that over the period January 
2010 to December 2016 the number of women from Ireland who contacted an online provider 
of abortion pills tripled.  In 2010 there were 548 online consultations completed by women 
from the island of Ireland.  In 2016, the number had increased to 1,748.

Another research article, published by the same authors in 2017, reports on the experiences 
of women following taking the abortion pill in Ireland.  The study reports on 1,000 women who 
underwent self-sourced medical abortion from the online service.  The study reports that while 
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the vast majority of women did not need to contact medical services following taking the abor-
tion pill at home, approximately one in ten - 9.3% - reported to the online provider that they 
were experiencing a symptom for which they were advised to seek medical advice and the vast 
majority of these women sought medical advice as advised.

The programme has identified one other main provider of the abortion pill and has sought 
similar information from this provider for a more accurate assessment of the trend.

  If a woman takes an abortion pill and has prolonged heavy bleeding, bad pain, fainting or 
other complications we strongly encourage that she attends an emergency department or GP 
straight away.  If a woman is concerned about her health following taking an abortion pill, we 
would encourage her to attend a free post-abortion medical check-up funded by the HSE.  A list 
of these services is available on abortionaftercare.ie. 

  I thank the committee members for their attention.  Helen and I are happy to take any ques-
tions that the committee may have. 

Chairman: I thank Ms Donlon.  I call on Senator Gavan to use the remainder of Deputy 
O’Brien’s time.  He has about six minutes.

Senator  Paul Gavan: I thank the Chairman.  I thank Ms Donlon for coming to the commit-
tee today and for her presentation.

My first question relates to the HSE crisis pregnancy website.  It states that it has three 
mandates, one of which is “A reduction in the number of women with crisis pregnancies who 
opt for abortion by offering services and support which make other options more attractive”.  I 
am a little bit confused because page 2 of Ms Donlon’s presentation says that the HSE services 
are to be provided in a non-directive, non-judgmental and client-centred manner.  If a woman 
feels that her needs are best met by an abortion what are these other options that the HSE men-
tions on its website? Is this a case of directive counselling to the woman to continue with the 
pregnancy or are there other options we are unaware of?  Perhaps Ms Donlon will elaborate on 
these because it appears to me to be contradictory with regard to the HSE website and what Ms 
Donlon has said here.  I can see only two options available for women in those circumstances.

Ms Janice Donlon: I thank Senator Gavan for the questions.  The mandates certainly set out 
the exploring of other options.  The way that we interpret the mandates, as set out by the crisis 
pregnancy legislation, is by providing non-directive and non-judgmental counselling.  That is 
set out in the law also in respect of providing that level of support for women.  We feel that 
counselling provides the space and the time for women to explore all of their options in a safe, 
secure and non-judgmental manner.  We absolutely are not directive in any of our instructions 
around our mandates and we absolutely support the provision on non-directive, non-judgmental 
counselling.  Counselling allows a woman the space and time to discuss all of her options, and 
to explore how each of the options may impact on her life.  If the woman wants to explore the 
option of parenting she is given enough support and information to consider that and how it 
would impact on her individual set of circumstances.

The programme has provided funding over the years to other organisations to provide sup-
ports to those who choose to parent.  A number of the organisations we fund provide support 
and training to one parent families and additional supports in that area.  Equally, we provide 
funding to a crisis pregnancy counselling service that has expertise in adoption.  If a woman 
chooses to explore that option she is given enough information to be able to make that decision.  
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Our mandates allow us to ensure that women are directed towards counselling that is non-
judgmental and non-directive.  This is what we fund in counselling services.

Senator  Paul Gavan: I thank Ms Donlon for that answer.  I accept what she has said but 
I do see a contradiction in what the witness has said and what is on the website.  I wish to flag 
this. The website certainly suggests directive counselling to some degree.

I am conscious of time and I shall move on.  There is lots of really good information in the 
presentation and I thank Ms Donlon for that.

Considering the number of women on record who have travelled to Britain for termination 
of pregnancy and who have obtained abortion pills online, does Ms Donlon feel that the HSE is 
leaving thousands of women vulnerable each year?  In fairness, there is a huge gap between the 
HSE figures of people who get post-abortion counselling and the annual figures for those who 
actually travel for an abortion.  There are thousands in the difference there.

Ms Janice Donlon: I believe that international evidence would also show that the number 
of women who take up post-abortion counselling is low internationally.  That trend is similar in 
Ireland.  Women do not often identify that they need counselling after an abortion.  It is realistic 
to understand that many women do not require counselling.  Some women do and our services 
are available to those women.  The counselling services that we fund report that women often 
attend for post-abortion counselling many years after they have experienced an abortion.  It is 
not necessarily straight after their experience that they seek counselling.  It may be down the 
line.  International evidence would show that women do not seek or do not feel that they require 
counselling post-abortion, and this is reflected in the numbers here also.

Senator  Paul Gavan: Has the crisis pregnancy programme received any complaints re-
garding the advice given to women, and if so will Ms Donlon give the committee some details 
on what sorts of complaints have been made?

Ms Janice Donlon: Certainly since the funded services have come under the HSE, and in 
my time, we have not received complaints.  All of the 15 services have robust complaints pro-
cedures and have mechanisms for service user feedback.  All of the complaints would be sent 
in to the consumer affairs division of the HSE as is outlined in their service arrangement for 
the protocol around where complaints are directed.  The complaints would also be directed to 
us in the programme.  We have not received complaints about the services we fund.  There are 
complaints in respect of other agencies, such as the rogue agencies or disingenuous agencies 
that are not funded by the State.  Those complaints would come to the services we fund and this 
is where we would see them.

Senator  Paul Gavan: On that last point, I know it is implied but I wish to make it clear, 
those rogue agencies referred to by Ms Donlon are the agencies that try to persuade women not 
to have a termination.

Ms Janice Donlon: Absolutely.  We know that they target women who are seeking informa-
tion on abortion.  They target them by delaying them in their decision making process.  This 
is information we get from the funded services that see these clients.  The clients have been 
through quite a traumatic time with those rogue agencies.  Our funded services then see them 
and try to support them through their decision-making process.

Senator  Paul Gavan: I thank Ms Donlon very much.
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Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: I shall ask Ms Donlon the same question I asked of Dr. Hen-
chion.  Will Ms Donlon tell the committee what her organisation has done specifically to pro-
mote adoption as an alternative to abortion?  How many conferences has it run?  What per-
centage of her programme’s tax funding goes on this area compared to how much it spends in 
researching and discussing abortion and the possibility of repealing the eighth amendment?

Ms Janice Donlon: Our primary focus in the programme is to fund crisis pregnancy coun-
selling services to provide non-directive and non-judgmental counselling.  In that guise we do 
not direct funding or our services towards any one option because those options are there for the 
client’s individual decision in respect of her crisis pregnancy and for her own particular set of 
circumstances.  Absolutely there is information available for all clients should they seek infor-
mation on adoption.  As I said earlier, one of the services we fund has experience in adoption.  
We would certainly support women who make the decision to go down the road of adoption.  
All of the options are available to women.  A woman comes to a counselling service in crisis.  
She comes in turmoil at what has happened to her.  She cannot believe that she is pregnant and 
the counsellor’s role is to support the woman through that crisis, to support her through the 
decisions she will make and support her in teasing out how those decisions will impact on her 
life.  It is not directive counselling.  It is not about the counsellor’s opinion of what option may 
be best for the client.  The counsellor’s role is to support the client through her decision mak-
ing process.  Often the counselling services report that women consider many options through 
the counselling sessions.  Women attend more than one counselling session and are invited to 
attend more than one session until they are happy they have made the decision that is right for 
them at that point in their lives.  None of our funding and none of our mandates in terms of 
what we tell services to do is about directing them towards a certain option.  We would be going 
against the non-directive, non-judgmental counselling service provision if we did that.

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: On page 2 of the presentation, it states that the programme 
funds 15 individual crisis pregnancy consultation services which operate at more than 40 loca-
tions nationally to provide free crisis pregnancy counselling.  It is a very large catchment area.  
It also states on page 2 that, during a counselling session, a client may request information on 
the options available to her.  What information is provided to clients surrounding the process 
of adoption?

Ms Janice Donlon: As I have said, if a client seeks information on adoption from a counsel-
lor during a counselling session and wants to explore the option of adoption, she is absolutely 
given as much information as possible to feel supported in that decision.  While it may require 
the counsellor to refer her to a more specialist service such as a Tusla adoption service or an 
accredited body where she seeks further information on that option, the client is given as much 
information as she needs for her to feel she can make that decision.  It is not that there is no 
information there.  The counsellor has all of the information the client needs in her decision-
making process.

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: The programme did a general survey on the outcome of crisis 
pregnancies which found that parenting was 73%, abortion was 24% and adoption was 2%.  
Why has adoption decreased so significantly over the past decades?

Senator  Lynn Ruane: There are no forced adoptions.

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: I am not asking the Senator the question.

Senator  Lynn Ruane: It is just a point of order that answers it.
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Chairman: Please, do not interrupt Deputy Fitzpatrick.

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: There was no need for that.  Senator Ruane had an opportunity 
to ask her questions.

Ms Janice Donlon: We do not have research as to why women are not choosing the option 
of adoption anymore.  As a society, the option of adoption is not considered as much as it has 
been in the past.  From a crisis pregnancy counselling point of view, certainly, if the woman 
chooses that option, she is able to explore it in terms of being provided with enough informa-
tion to make that decision.  We do not have statistics on the reasons that option is not chosen as 
much as it was in the past.

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: Are organisations providing enough information on adoption?  
One can find out about abortion clinics on the Internet and there are even abortion clinics which 
offer bonuses to their employees to get people to avail of abortions.  Is enough being done with 
the HSE on the option of adoption in a crisis pregnancy?

Ms Janice Donlon: It is down to the individual client.  If she seeks information on adop-
tion, the counsellor has the resources, the information and the referral to the specialist services 
should the client wish to explore the option.  Absolutely, the information is there if the client 
requests it.

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: From the HSE.

Ms Janice Donlon: It is there from the HSE, from Tusla, which is the authority in relation 
to adoption, and the Adoption Authority.  The information is available should the client request 
it.

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: Reading the presentation, it appeared to me that if a person 
seeks information from the programme and asks directly for a child to be adopted, she would 
be referred by the HSE to Tusla.

Ms Janice Donlon: Absolutely, that is the process.

Deputy  Peter Fitzpatrick: What I want to know about is where she comes in and does 
not know what she wants.  Is enough information being given then on the process of adopting 
a child?

Ms Janice Donlon: If that is what the client is requesting.  If the client comes in and is ex-
ploring all of her options, she is given as much information on each of the options as she needs 
for her to make her decision based on her individual circumstances.  Absolutely, the funded cri-
sis pregnancy counselling services have that information available should the client require it.

Deputy  Catherine Murphy: I thank the witnesses for attending.  I presume Ms Donlon 
would describe the presentation today as “neutral”.  It is the service the HSE runs and it is not 
an advocate for any side.

Ms Janice Donlon: No.

Deputy  Catherine Murphy: I just want to establish that because there are all sorts of peo-
ple coming in front of us and being put into categories they would be astonished to find them-
selves in.  Ms Donlon said in her presentation many women experiencing a crisis pregnancy 
resolve that crisis for themselves.  They must resolve that crisis for themselves because we are 
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not in a situation where there is a legal abortion regime except in situations where the life of a 
woman is at risk.  That is fair to say.  What do the HSE’s counterparts in countries where there is 
a legal arrangement do?  Would the HSE’s role be very different should the eighth amendment 
be amended?  Has the programme given that any consideration?

Ms Janice Donlon: Crisis pregnancy is unique in terms of trying to compare it with interna-
tional counterparts and evidence.  The provision of crisis pregnancy counselling is unique in the 
State funding it receives.  That is not seen in other jurisdictions where abortion is legal.  What 
the HSE has is a unique set-up in terms of funding counselling services and it is not replicated, 
as far as we can see, in jurisdictions where abortion is legal.

Deputy  Catherine Murphy: Ms Donlon said the numbers presenting to the programme 
were falling.  Does that suggest that many women in the past would have come for information 
rather than counselling?  Once they can get if for themselves, they do not require counselling.

Ms Janice Donlon: Yes.  The Crisis Pregnancy Agency was established in 2001 and the 
HSE assumed responsibility for it in 2010.  In the early stages, women certainly were accessing 
crisis pregnancy counsellors in order to gain information on abortion clinics in the UK as that 
information was not widely available at the time.  With the advance of the Internet, people who 
are only seeking information on where the clinics are located and so on are certainly not attend-
ing the services.  The services inform us that those types of client are not attending the services 
any more.  Those attending do so with more complex needs around other areas of their lives and 
seek a counselling service to find the space and time to consider their decisions.

Deputy  Catherine Murphy: In relation to the abortion pill, Ms Donlon is saying approxi-
mately one in ten women, or 9.3%, reported to an online provider that she was experiencing 
a symptom and was advised to seek medical advice.  One of the things that has cropped up 
as having the potential to prevent women seeking medical advice was referred to by our last 
contributor.  It is the potential to be reported due to illegality with consequences for that.  What 
approach does the HSE take to advise and reassure women that they should not fear seeking 
medical advice?

Ms Janice Donlon: Our priority and that of the funded services and their ethic of care is to 
support women and not dissuade them from attending either medical or counselling services 
where they have taken the abortion pill.  Our website, www.abortionaftercare.ie, has informa-
tion that encourages women with complications following the taking of the abortion pill to seek 
medical advice and not to be fearful in doing so.  It is an incredibly difficult area for the woman 
and the counsellor to support a woman through this.  It is a difficult area for the woman and it is 
a difficult area for the counsellor in terms of supporting a woman through this, but our primary 
concern is that women are not dissuaded from seeking the medical attention they require should 
they have complications.

Deputy  Catherine Murphy: With regard to the seizure of abortion pills by customs of-
ficers, does Ms Donlon have any indication of the quantities involved?  Were they intended for 
individual homes?  If somebody is looking to take medication to terminate a pregnancy, there is 
a critically important timeline.  It would be useful to get that information if Ms Donlon has it.

Ms Janice Donlon: The programme has a reporting relationship with the Health Products 
Regulatory Authority, HPRA, in terms of the number of cases of abortifacient tablets seized by 
customs.  We have data from 2008 up to 2016.  In 2016, for example, 536 abortifacients were 
seized; in 2014, that number was 1,017.  It seems that the number of seizures by customs has 
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reduced.  Evidence may have come through Dr. Abigail Aiken’s research on the abortion pill 
that women are finding alternative methods of importing the abortion pill.  That may be through 
using Parcel Motel or those sort of providers and the numbers may reflect that in terms of 
customs seizures.  We established that relationship with the HPRA in the absence of any other 
information that we had on the use of the abortion pill.  We were trying to see trends in terms 
of seizures.  Now that we have that reporting relationship and we have understanding through 
Dr. Aiken’s research, we are better able to establish trends in the numbers of women who are 
accessing abortion pills online.

Deputy  Catherine Murphy: I am quite certain that it must add to the stress.

Chairman: I call on Senator Mullen.  He has six minutes.

Senator  Rónán Mullen: I welcome our guests and thank them for an extremely informa-
tive presentation.  I would like to say that, in my view, there was certainly nothing tendentious 
about their presentation, and would that more had been like them in recent weeks in coming 
before the committee and laying out the facts very clearly according to Ms Donlon’s experi-
ence and remit.  I would like to ask about that remit, however.  I understand that Ms Donlon’s 
brief here is to explain what she does in the light of the mandate she has, not to advocate for 
policy, legislative or constitutional change.  Where are the terms “non-directive” and “non-
judgmental” defined?

Ms Janice Donlon: They are defined in the abortion information Act in terms of the provi-
sion that all information should be provided in a non-judgmental, non-directive manner.  I think 
also-----

Senator  Rónán Mullen: Can we tease this out?  Are the terms themselves defined in the 
legislation?

Ms Janice Donlon: In the abortion information Act?

Senator  Rónán Mullen: Yes, or indeed anywhere else.  The requirement is there, but is 
what the terms mean defined?

Ms Janice Donlon: I am not aware of the interpretation in that manner.

Senator  Rónán Mullen: It seems to me that so much of what the programme does is deter-
mined by the witnesses’ understanding of what non-judgmentalism and non-directiveness actu-
ally require.  Let me put it this way: we operate within a constitutional framework where the 
unborn baby is another person to be protected by Irish law, the second human being involved 
in the equation.  In other areas of our culture, we have very good, proactive and State-funded 
activity designed to discourage behaviours that might be harmful to individuals themselves or 
to a third party.  I am thinking about anti-drink and anti-smoking campaigns, drink-driving, 
and, increasingly, anti-obesity.  These campaigns are publicly funded.  One would not so much 
describe them as directive and judgmental because they do not judge the people and nor do they 
require or coerce certain kinds of behaviour, but they do clearly encourage or indeed discourage 
certain behaviours.

I do not expect Ms Donlon to comment on the anomaly, because that would bring her into 
the realm of policy, but it seems anomalous that, on the one hand, we can encourage certain 
kinds of behaviours for the sake of protecting an individual, or a third party in the case of drink-
ing and driving and so on, but that when it comes to the protection of the unborn and how that 
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intersects with Ms Donlon’s work, it seems to me that the positive options notion sums up her 
activity, which is to say that as long as the information is procured, supplied and accurately 
provided when requested, Ms Donlon’s job is done.  Is this because the programme sees itself 
as being curbed by legislation that there is not something more proactive done given our con-
stitutional position, which one would understand ought to tend the State towards protecting the 
unborn?  I am asking about things like recommending adoption or requiring that State-funded 
agencies propose or speak positively of adoption as an alternative.

I am also talking about things like informed consent.  We had a hearing last week in which 
it was not effectively accepted but it was certainly not contradicted, that there is no evidence 
linking abortion with increased mental health outcomes, yet mental health is what is on the 
Statute Book in Britain and it is what has opened up a large number of abortions.  Mental health 
was also cited by the IFPA here earlier.  Does the HSE crisis pregnancy programme require, as 
a matter of informed consent, that counsellors draw a woman’s attention to the possibility that 
if she had, for example, a previous mental health history she might be at risk of adverse mental 
health sequelae in the context of abortion?  This is no more and no less than the precise truth.

Take the question of ultrasound.  I am not asking Ms Donlon whether it ought to be required 
that a woman see an ultrasound, but ought it be required of counsellors that they offer that in a 
respectful way and in a way that always respects a woman’s right to refuse, but also in a way 
that allows the provision and sharing of full information, all of which might act to encourage the 
life-giving choice at the end of the day?  Does Ms Donlon see that as outside of her mandate?  
Would it require a change of law in her view for public policy to go down that road in the light 
of what the eighth amendment currently states as a matter of public policy?

Chairman: Senator Mullen has spoken for five minutes now.  He has to allow the witness 
to respond.

Ms Janice Donlon: If the question is whether we would in any way encourage any sort of 
directive in the provision of information and on how options are presented to the woman, tak-
ing away our position, if we look at good counselling practice, it would ensure that the woman 
is seen as an individual who is able to have self-determination around her options.  She is seen 
in a non-judgmental and non-directive way in relation to the provision of information.  That is 
how the counselling services operate, and it is good counselling practice to operate in that man-
ner.  The individual is coming to the counsellor in a crisis.  She is confused, unsure as to what 
her options are, and unsure as to what option she may ultimately decide upon.  She ultimately 
needs that time, space and reflection to consider all of her options.

Senator  Rónán Mullen: Ms Donlon’s reply seems to beg a question, however, because she 
uses the word “directive” as though directive is defined.  I infer from what she is saying that she 
has a notion that what current counselling practice regards as directive would be that kind of 
behaviour that is, for example, suggestive of a better outcome.  I put it to Ms Dolan, however, 
that is not necessarily the only case and one could interpret, in light of the Irish Constitution, 
that it is not directive to suggest, rather it is suggestive or that it proposes something.

Chairman: I will allow Ms Donlon to clarify that point and I will then move on to the next 
questioner.

Ms Janice Donlon: Again, we support the provision of counselling that does not direct or 
persuade a woman towards any one option.  It is the individual woman’s right to decide on the 
options that she wants to explore, and to get as much information on those options as she needs 
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to feel comfortable in making her decision.

Senator  Rónán Mullen: I thank the Chair for her indulgence.  Before I conclude, I wish 
to say that there are many other important issues, including the question of whether the IFPA 
engaged in rogue activity, which I would like to have raised-----

Chairman: Perhaps other members will ask that.

Senator  Rónán Mullen: I only wish it would happen.  My time is up.

Chairman: Hopefully it will.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: I thank the witnesses for attending.  If the HSE were to 
improve the quality and extent of its services, does Ms Donlon see any particular area where 
improvement is desirable now or at some time in the future?  Expansion, availability throughout 
the country-----

Ms Janice Donlon: Expansion and availability do not appear to be a problem throughout 
the country.  We are looking at introducing a telephone counselling service, probably from 
next year, which will ensure that the service is more accessible and available.  Currently, it is a 
face-to-face counselling service.  The law and the restriction of the law is complex for counsel-
lors and for women.  That is what they have to operate within.  We offer counsellors as much 
support, training and guidance as possible so that they can operate within the law and support 
women through the process.

Deputy  Bernard J. Durkan: Are the services reasonably evenly spread throughout all 
areas of the country?

Ms Janice Donlon: Yes.  We have no problem in terms of access to or availability of ser-
vices.

Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: I welcome our witnesses and thank them for attending.  When 
listening to Ms Donlon’s presentation, I reflected on the fact that it has been many years since 
I marched with my mother on the streets of Dublin for the right to information.  I said to my 
mother at the time, “This is ridiculous.  This is only information.”  Of course, now there is a 
raft of information available, not only from the HSE.  Ms Donlon states that there has been 
a gradual decline in the numbers travelling and a gradual increase in the number of women 
who are accessing abortion pills online.  Presumably, given that the one is going down and the 
other is going up, we can say that the number of women accessing abortion care is remaining 
relatively steady, as is the number availing of counselling, 442, which, as Ms Donlon said, is 
very low.  There is an great deal of information out there, which can be accessed with a few 
clicks of a mouse.  Women know that the services are available, that the aftercare and emotional 
support are there, should they require them.  However, the figure for those availing of counsel-
ling remains consistently low.  Would it be true to say that this would indicate that women are 
happy with their choice and have no need for follow-up counselling?  Perhaps Ms Donlon could 
elaborate on that?

On the rogue agencies, I am thinking particularly about work done by the journalist Ellen 
Coyne on those agencies that will tell women that if they have had abortions, they are at greater 
risk of breast cancer and other nonsense of that nature which we know has no basis in medi-
cine.  Ms Donlon says those agencies target women in crisis pregnancy.  Could she elaborate 
on how that is done?  I echo what my colleague said - we do not often find ourselves agreeing 
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with Fine Gael but we will say so when it happens.  I welcome the moves by the Minister to 
regulate these agencies, particularly those which were highlighted in the reports and which are 
giving that sort of information to women who, in some instances, are frightened.  How is that 
targeting happening?

Ms Janice Donlon: I might take that question first.  What we have seen and through our 
communications unit in the HSE, is that women seek information about abortion services and 
crisis pregnancies primarily online, through a Google search.  These rogue, disingenuous agen-
cies are targeting women by increasing their spend on paid AdWords on Google.  We in the HSE 
try to combat that by outbidding them in terms of search words.  It is a constant battle.  We are 
trying to ensure that our information about the funded services, the Positive Options informa-
tion, comes up first on Google searches and that these rogue services are not the first result that 
somebody will see.  I think in the past they may have taken out advertisements in the Golden 
Pages and the agency and the programme would have tried to combat that by taking out bigger 
advertisements.  It is a matter of trying to keep up with them at all times.

Another issue is that they regularly change their names.  While we may have been aware of 
some of them in the past, they have now changed their name so it is very hard to track.  They 
change their locations.  It is very difficult to deter women from a certain agency when we do not 
know where it is actually located.  It is incredibly difficult and the services we fund, which see 
these women after they have been through traumatic experiences, would certainly let us know 
that women are traumatised.  They do not want to go through a complaints procedure against 
these organisations.  We have a complaints mechanism in place if a woman wants to go ahead in 
that regard.  Often, the woman just wants to get the non-directive, non-judgmental counselling 
in order to get through her crisis and does not want to revisit a very difficult time.

We would absolutely welcome the regulation of counselling services.  The counselling ser-
vices we fund would also welcome it.  Counselling in general is not regulated.  There is no 
regulatory body over it.  In the absence of regulation, what the HSE has done in terms of the 
crisis pregnancy counselling services is to provide training and support for counsellors in a non-
regulated environment.  We have robust service arrangements with all of the organisations and 
put funding into training for individual counsellors.  They have access to supervision as well in 
terms of their counselling practice.  In order to level the playing field in terms of transparency 
of crisis pregnancy services, I think regulation certainly will help.

What was the Deputy’s previous question?

Deputy  Louise O’Reilly: It was to do with the numbers.  The number of women accessing 
abortion pills increases while the number travelling decreases, but the number of those access-
ing counselling remains low.  I do not want to put words in Ms Donlon’s mouth but, given that 
the services are very widely advertised and easily accessible for women and they are not access-
ing them, I am taking that as an indication that it would be reasonable to assume that women are 
happy with the choice they have made.

Ms Janice Donlon: Again, international evidence would concur that women do not tend 
to seek counselling post-abortion in great numbers.  I think our numbers are reflective of that.  
We certainly want to ensure that women are aware of the services, that they are free and open 
to women who have had terminations not just recently but in the past as well.  The services are 
available there.  Certainly, we would not anticipate an increase in the numbers attending the 
services.
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Deputy  Bríd Smith: I thank Ms Donlon for her presentation.  We are discussing socioeco-
nomic status and disadvantage in the context of women and the choices they make.  Looking at 
the Positive Options website and the clinics that provide counselling services - which the HSE 
funds - I counted 32 or 33 locations but Ms Donlon says it is 40 and I accept that.  I did not look 
at the geographical spread in respect of them but I want to make a point about access to full in-
formation for all women across all centres in Ireland.  Outside of the urban centres, it might be 
more difficult for women to access a crisis pregnancy counselling service.  Would Ms Donlon 
comment on that?  It makes it more difficult and therefore the question of socioeconomic and 
economic disadvantage applies very much more for people who are not near an urban centre 
where they have choices in the type of counselling received.

My second question is on the list of agencies under Positive Options, approximately one 
third of which are run by Anew and Cura.  On their websites, both organisations state that they 
do not provide contact details for abortion clinics or abortion information services, but they 
will discuss.  It was stated here that the legal framework for providing information on abortion 
requires that individuals must be given access to the information.  If the only resource available 
to a poor woman is provided by Anew or Cura, which will not discuss abortion, why are they 
funded by the crisis pregnancy programme to provide one third of counselling services while 
failing to give women full access to all of the options they have?  Does it not further disadvan-
tage women who are socially and economically in a bottom bracket?  While Anew or Cura will 
not provide the information women need on abortion, they will provide the name of a doctor or 
other service they can attend.  Does it not compound their disadvantage and possibly even the 
delay in procuring an abortion?  Women need and want to have access to abortion as early as 
possible but this seems to be an anomaly.  Why does a State agency such as the crisis pregnancy 
programme fund services which will not provide the full information to women?  They state on 
their website that they will discuss but not provide the information.

Ms Janice Donlon: We fund 15 services providing crisis pregnancy counselling, two of 
which, the Deputy is right to state, do not provide, due to their ethos, information on names and 
addresses of abortion clinics outside Ireland.  What they absolutely will provide, however, is 
information on all three options.  If a client attends and wants to discuss the option of abortion, 
they will discuss it.  Also, as the Deputy has seen from their websites, the information is very 
clearly accessible as to what they will or will not provide.  As such, the client is made aware 
before she attends whether she will be provided with information on abortion services.  There 
is an element of choice for some women of attending a service that is not going to provide the 
information, or choosing another service.  They also have in place, as stated in their service ar-
rangements with the HSE, robust referral procedures so that, if a woman they are counselling 
seeks information on abortion and wants the names and addresses of clinics, she can be referred 
to her GP or another service provider.

The counselling services certainly report to us that they will support women through the 
option of abortion.  The ethos of their services does not allow them to provide the names and 
addresses of the clinics.  Women attend crisis pregnancy counselling for a number of reasons 
and make decisions on their choices around their crisis pregnancies.  As our research shows, 
73% of women choose to parent and many of these organisations support women through that 
parenting.  Even after the baby is born, they assist them with supports for new mothers.  Cer-
tainly, there is a role for the services in that regard.  Ultimately, the choice is for the woman 
as to which service she attends.  I take the Deputy’s point about a rural or an urban spread of 
counselling services.
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Deputy  Bríd Smith: It is also the point that one third of all the counselling services the 
programme funds are represented by these agencies which say they do not talk about abortion.  
Is that not an anomaly given the role of the crisis pregnancy programme?  It funds counselling 
services that look at all three options, namely parenting, adoption and abortion, but one third 
of services, whether in rural or urban Ireland and notwithstanding the socio-economic point I 
made, will not talk to a woman unless she says, “I need to talk about abortion”, at which point 
they will provide a list of doctors who will discuss it.  Why would the HSE fund those agencies 
to provide one third of services?

Ms Janice Donlon: The counsellors who work in these services will absolutely support a 
woman who is exploring the option of abortion.  What the ethos of their organisations does not 
allow them to do is provide the names and addresses of the clinics in England or elsewhere.  
Absolutely, she can be supported through that.  They provide post-abortion counselling also 
for clients who have had abortions.  Certainly, the individual counsellors are there to support 
women.  Equally, the information is available to potential clients on whether they choose to at-
tend that service or not.  Certainly, we understand the point about the regional spread of these 
services.  As Ms Deely mentioned, we are looking to develop a national telephone counselling 
service which we hope will help to open access to all services to individuals around the country 
who may find it difficult currently to attend a face-to-face counselling session due to geography, 
social circumstances and so on.  Hopefully, that will open counselling services to more women.

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: I apologise if the following has been asked in my absence.  What 
is the policy in the crisis agencies funded by the HSE when a woman tells a counsellor that she 
has taken illegal abortion pills obtained online?  Are women being advised to say nothing or 
that they had a miscarriage or to tell their doctors the truth?

I spoke to a girl this morning who travelled to Liverpool last year to have an abortion.  She 
told me how she was surprised to find HSE branded leaflets in the waiting room of the BPAS 
clinic.  Who makes or writes these leaflets and who pays for them to be printed and sent to the 
UK?  Is there a significant level of hypocrisy in printing these leaflets and distributing them 
across the water?  Is the HSE aware of these leaflets being sent further afield than the UK, i.e. 
to other European countries to which, because of cheaper flights or whatever, there is evidence 
that people are travelling?

The lack of contraception in crisis pregnancies was raised earlier.  People may not have the 
means or capacity to access contraception following abortions.  Does the HSE’s programme 
have any mechanism dedicated to dealing with sexually transmitted infections?  Its title refers 
to “sexual health and crisis pregnancy”.

Ms Helen Deely: I will take the last question on contraception first.  According to a general 
population survey of 2010, which looked at the cost and usage of contraception, the cost of 
contraception was not found to be an issue for most people.  Only 18% of respondents without 
a medical card found that it was an issue for them.

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: Was that 18%?

Ms Helen Deely: Yes.

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: Which is one fifth.

Ms Helen Deely: Yes, of people without a medical card.  They found it was an issue.
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Deputy  Kate O’Connell: That is fairly high, is it not?

Ms Helen Deely: It is 18%.

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: That is one fifth of the cohort that does not have a medical card 
finding it an issue.  I see that as high, not low.  I suppose it depends what way one looks at it.

Ms Helen Deely: Okay.  On access to contraception, we support the ICGP on training on 
long-acting reversible contraceptives and have done so for a number of years.  We also run 
campaigns to encourage the consistent use of contraception by women and young men.  Our 
programme extended its brief two years ago when the sexual health strategy was published and 
we now have responsibility for implementing that strategy within the HSE.  As such, our man-
date now extends beyond crisis pregnancy to looking at sexual health.

Ms Janice Donlon: Where a client has taken an abortion pill, the primary concern of the 
counsellor is the care of the client.  It involves the client being assured that if she is having a 
medical problem, she can attend a hospital or GP service.  If she is having a complication after 
taking the abortion pill, she is encouraged to attend the service and to tell someone she has 
taken the abortion pill and not hide it and try to pretend she has had a miscarriage or anything 
else.  Disclosing that she has taken the abortion pill would certainly be encouraged by the coun-
sellors, who, through the services we fund, would have received training, support and guidance 
in this area.  It is an incredibly difficult area.  It is a difficult area for the client and it is also an 
incredibly difficult area for the counsellor in terms of the legislation and the potential penalties 
for both.  The priority is that the client is not fearful of attending a medical service should she 
have a complication or of attending a counselling service should she need that support.

The Deputy is probably referencing the abortion aftercare leaflets that are available in Brit-
ish Pregnancy Advisory Service, BPAS, clinics.  We have a relationship in terms of sending our 
information to abortion clinics in the UK and the Netherlands.  The reason we do that is because 
we want Irish women who attend these services and have an abortion to be aware of the State-
funded services that are available to them on their return so I think it is entirely appropriate that 
the HSE would send our materials to these services, which we know women attend.  We gather 
the data on an annual basis from the Netherlands and the UK and we know women are attending 
these services so we highlight to women that they can attend free counselling and access a free 
post-abortion medical check up and we will continue to do so.

Deputy  Kate O’Connell: I was not suggesting that they thought it was inappropriate.  I 
was really making the point that I believe people need to be made aware that as well as farming 
out our problem to other countries, we are sending information over for our women to get over 
there.

Chairman: We cannot expect Ms Donlon to comment on that.

Senator  Lynn Ruane: I thank the witnesses for their presentations.  Many of the ques-
tions I had have been answered so I have only two brief questions.  I apologise for interrupting 
Deputy Fitzpatrick earlier on but I think it is a point that is worth noting.  I probably should 
have waited my turn.  In respect of adoption and whether it is decreasing or not, when we are 
having any conversation about women and the choices they have made, we need to look at it in 
the context of our history, the number of women we locked away and put in mother and baby 
homes and the number of illegal adoptions that took place in this country.  If the research is not 
there, I am sure it would factor in along the way if research was ever done.  It is important to 
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say this because I do not think any of us would ever want to advocate that we want to go back 
to those figures.  It just involves being mindful of those women and the fact that they probably 
would have chosen to rear their children had they been given the support to do so.  That was the 
point I was trying to make.

In respect of socio-economic matters, I know from throughout my time supporting mothers 
who already have children, particularly if they are at risk of homelessness or are in addiction, 
that they are always very cautious of seeking help, particularly from State bodies.  There is 
some distrust there sometimes.  If somebody is experiencing addiction, how does the counsel-
ling operate in this scenarios?  Women are sometimes petrified of being judged as mothers.  
They are worried that the children they already have might be taken off them if they raise the 
reason that a pregnancy is such a crisis.  How do the witnesses deal with that and have they 
come up against it?  Is there a cohort of women who do not access services because it is a State 
organisation?  How can we address that?  A point was made that socio-economic inequality ex-
ists in respect of being able to travel for abortion with poorer women being more likely to turn 
to the abortion pill.  What is the witnesses’ take on the overall impact of the socio-economic 
status or circumstances of a woman on her options in a crisis pregnancy?

Ms Janice Donlon: In terms of a client who may come with additional needs in terms of 
addiction, the crisis pregnancy counselling services are open to these women but the Senator is 
right.  They often do not see themselves going to those kind of services.  They may be fearful 
and may not feel that it is for them.  They may feel there is another agenda there, whatever that 
might be.  What we have done in the HSE is to provide training and support to services that are 
already engaged with these women, such as addiction services, so we would fund NUI May-
nooth to provide master classes on particular topics around crisis pregnancy.  These classes are 
open to anybody who works in the HSE or any of the funded services.  More recently, people 
from a vast array of services have been attending those master classes so addiction counsellors, 
public health nurses and people from other areas of the HSE would attend them.  It is about pro-
viding them with the knowledge and information to be able to go back and support their clients.  
Equally, a counsellor will see a client with any additional needs but may not always be able to 
support her fully and may then need to refer her back for additional support.

The second question concerned-----

Senator  Lynn Ruane: It concerned the impact of socio-economic circumstances on a 
woman’s options.  All options might not be available to her given the circumstances in which 
she finds herself.  It is probably quite a broad question.  It has been said that there are as many 
reasons as there are pregnancies so it is such a wide range to capture.  We think we have options 
and a choice in those options but sometimes because of our socio-economic disadvantage or 
circumstances, even our options are limited.  Is that the case?

Ms Janice Donlon: I think the Senator is right.  The options are more limited for those 
with lower financial means, those in situations involving domestic violence and those facing a 
multitude of situations whereby they are unable to make the choices their counterparts with fi-
nancial means are able to make.  If we take the example of asylum seekers in particular, they are 
restricted in terms of their economic and social ability and the procedure they must go through 
should they choose the option of abortion in terms of travelling outside the State for an abortion.  
They can be insurmountable to many women in terms of going through with the option they 
have chosen so there are a range of additional issues that influence a woman’s ability to make a 
decision and follow through with that decision.
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Deputy  Clare Daly: Some research has been done on adoption.  The biggest contributor to 
the fall in adoption rates was when the State introduced payments to women who were initially 
called unmarried mothers that became payments which allowed people to parent alone so that 
women did not have to continue with a pregnancy and then give their children up, but had the 
right to raise their own children and had the economic basis to do so.  The evidence would sup-
port that view.  I thank the witnesses for coming before the committee.  One of the excellent 
parts of today’s discussion has been the highlighting of the rogue agencies that are out there and 
the imperative on us as legislators to deal with that.  It relates to the point made by Niall Behan 
earlier that they are the ones that are not regulated.

I do not know how to react to this presentation because I am torn, on the one hand, by trying 
to get the information out there that despite criminalisation, there are State-provided services 
for people with crisis pregnancies before and after an abortion which women in Ireland might 
need tonight.  That is not well known so that is a message we need to get out.  However, on 
the other hand, is it not an indication of our utter sickening and depressing hypocrisy that we 
dance around this issue, provide State services, give a constitutional right to access a service in 
another state, even send the leaflets over and look after women when they come back, but we 
have no abortion in Ireland?  That is demoralising.  The witnesses are the ones who are imple-
menting that farce.   I do not know if they can comment on it.  I am trying to address the Regu-
lation of Information (Services Outside the State for Termination of Pregnancies) Act and the 
difficulties it causes.  We have had a lot of testimony about the break in the continuum of care.  
Have the HSE’s service providers or the agencies it funds highlighted any particular problems?  
I am thinking of the comments made by the IFPA, in particular, about deaf women.  Somebody 
might be given information by a service but how does a deaf person ring a clinic in England 
and make the appointment?  Is that not a double discriminator?  How would that be addressed?  
What are the problems in terms of that legislation?  Other contributors have said contraceptive 
prevalence is actually the key determinant of lowering abortion rates.  Deputy O’Connell made 
a point earlier about universal access to contraception.  Is that something the HSE has done 
research on or costed?  It would be of huge benefit to people.    

Ms Janice Donlon: I will take the first question on the Regulation of Information (Services 
Outside the State for Termination of Pregnancies) Act.  We acknowledged in the presentation 
that the Act is outdated given the current technology available to people and the access to in-
formation.  That is one aspect of it.  The other aspect the services report to us is that clients 
are often very surprised that when they attend a counselling service they can be given a list of 
names and addresses but they cannot be advised on which service might be best for them.  They 
cannot be referred to a service.  Their GP cannot refer them to a service and they are left alone 
with their list of services to contact and have to make the arrangements themselves.  The coun-
sellor cannot support them through that element of the decision.  That is more difficult for some 
women than for others.  It has been highlighted that women with additional needs or financial 
difficulties are presented with more challenges in making those arrangements and carrying out 
their decision.

Ms Helen Deely: I can give the committee some statistics on contraception from the ICCP 
study from 2003 to 2010.  It tells us that even though older age groups are less likely to use 
contraceptives consistently every time they have sex, there is an increase in contraceptive use 
across all age groups.  Condom use increased from 57% in 2003 to 62% in 2010.  Use of the pill 
increased from 39% to 43% in those years.  There was an increase in IUDs from 6% to 11%.  
Consistent use of contraception is lower in the older age group.  That has to do with the fact that 
sometimes women do not believe they are fertile or are ambivalent towards becoming pregnant 
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or would not view an unplanned pregnancy as a crisis.  Increasing access to contraception out-
side of medical card holders would be a policy decision.  There would need to be information 
and education campaigns on it in terms of consistent and proper use of contraceptives.  In our 
programme, we run campaigns to promote consistent use of contraceptives.  We fund the ICGP 
to claim for long-acting reversible contraceptives, LARC.  We also fund a national condom dis-
tribution service that distributes condoms to groups working with those at risk of HIV or STIs.

Deputy  Mattie McGrath: I welcome our guests and thank them.  Ms Donlon spoke about 
the disingenuous behaviour of some non-State funded agencies.  We are all agreed, I am sure, 
that anything dishonest, underhand or coercive in pregnancy counselling is entirely wrong.  
Deputy Fitzpatrick and Senator Mullen drew attention in an earlier session to dangerous ad-
vice given by the IFPA and others which was the subject of an exposé in the Irish Independent 
around 2012.  The Chairman asked for that to be clarified.  When the witnesses saw that report, 
did they do any due diligence checks to see if there was any basis to those disturbing claims?  
Did the HSE have any contact with the IFPA and other agencies involved about that?

Ms Janice Donlon: Following those allegations of improper information provision, a full 
audit was carried out on behalf of the HSE.  It was an independent audit with an independent 
chair, Brigid McManus, previously of the Department of Education and Skills.  That was car-
ried out in light of the allegations.  A desktop analysis was done on a number of services and six, 
including the IFPA, were chosen for an in-depth, face-to-face audit by the quality and improve-
ment division of the HSE.  It was a robust audit on policies, procedures, guidelines and pro-
tocols.  It involved in-depth interviews with staff members.  The audit made 11 recommenda-
tions, all of which have been fully implemented.  The majority of those recommendations were 
around improving the policies and procedures that were available in the counselling services.  
We and the HSE took the broad view that we were here to support the services in terms of our 
funding and we supported them through additional training, updating our practice guide, our 
training manual and by helping them to improve their policies and procedures where there was 
a lack of available information highlighted by the audit.  We also implemented a quality frame-
work with all services.  All services are signed up to a quality framework that assesses against 
national standards for crisis pregnancy counselling.  These national standards are based on the 
HIQA Safer Better Healthcare standards.  All services now have that implemented within their 
crisis pregnancy counselling service.

Deputy  Mattie McGrath: How many did Ms Donlon say?  Was it six?

Ms Janice Donlon: An in -depth audit was carried out on six.

Deputy  Mattie McGrath: How many altogether?

Ms Janice Donlon: There were 16 services at that point in time that were funded through 
the programme.

Deputy  Mattie McGrath: Were they all-----

Ms Janice Donlon: There was a desktop analysis of the other services and an audit of six.  
Those six were services against which allegations were made.  They were the six chosen for an 
in-depth analysis.

Deputy  Mattie McGrath: Should counsellors getting State funding be required to inform 
people of a possible risk to mental health?  I think Ms Donlon used the word “advised”.  Should 
they not be required?
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Ms Janice Donlon: Risk to mental health from what?

Deputy  Mattie McGrath: From abortion.

Ms Janice Donlon: The counsellor is not a medical professional.  They do not have medical 
backgrounds.  The counsellor is there to support a woman through her decision.  If that deci-
sion is she wishes to have an abortion, she will be provided with evidence-based information 
on the abortion.  The information that is provided is based on Royal College of Obstetricians 
and Gynaecologists guidelines.  Equally, if the client has particular medical issues, including 
mental health issues, they should be referred on to her GP to provide her with evidence on risks 
and complications of the procedure.

Deputy  Mattie McGrath: I raised this in the Dáil on countless occasions at the time of 
the investigation and after the exposé.  It was supposed to be an investigation first.  Then the 
Minister for Health told me it was a report.  Does Ms Donlon know if the gardaí were involved 
in any of the six services the HSE had to do an in-depth audit of?

Ms Helen Deely: The Garda carried out an investigation and a file was sent to the DPP.  The 
DPP’s decision was there was no case to answer.

Deputy  Mattie McGrath: I accept that but earlier it was suggested by previous guests that 
the gardaí were embarrassed to be investigating it.

Chairman: This is not a matter for Ms Donlon.  We have already addressed this.

Deputy  Mattie McGrath: I am just making the point that-----

Chairman: The Deputy can say that but the witness does not have to comment.

Deputy  Mattie McGrath: She does not.  I appreciate her honesty.   I will continue.

In terms of the language used around a fatal foetal abnormality, I am sure that the witnesses 
are aware, and I do not suggest that they are not aware, that the HSE brought in new guidelines.  
Indeed, I introduced a Private Members’ Bill, not that we wanted to lock anyone up or fine 
medics, but because we wanted more sanitised and less crude language used when a pregnant 
mother and her spouse, partner or whoever received the devastating diagnosis.  How have the 
new guidelines been operated?  

I was involved in the negotiations for the programme for Government and it was agreed 
that perinatal hospice services would be included.  I ask the witnesses to comment on the two 
issues, please.

Ms Janice Donlon: Our remit, within the HSE, is around the provision of counselling ser-
vices.  We are separate in terms of maternity services provision.

In terms of the language used for a diagnosis of a fatal foetal abnormality or a life-limiting 
condition, the services that we fund have said to us that they use language that their clients are 
comfortable with.  That is how they support their clients through this diagnosis.    

Deputy  Mattie McGrath: The HSE brought in new guidelines about two years ago.

Ms Janice Donlon: Yes.  I understand that through those guidelines, and bereavement care 
guidelines, the life-limiting condition terminology is used.  In practice, the crisis pregnancy 
counselling services have told us that the language used in a counselling session is the language 
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that the woman and her partner is comfortable with.  It is good counselling practice to do so.

Deputy Mattie McGrath: What about a perinatal hospice?

Ms Janice Donlon: I am not familiar with the initiative because it is not our area of ex-
pertise.  I know that the bereavement care guidelines have been issued and are currently being 
implemented.  However, the HSE is not part of that implementation.

Deputy  Mattie McGrath: I asked the question because I want a pregnant person to be of-
fered a full suite of care initiatives and not abandoned.  This morning I spoke to Mr. Jonathan 
Irwin, founder of the Jack and Jill Foundation.  The foundation provides so much care and we 
salute them for doing so.  I want people to be given options and told that there is some care 
when they receive the diagnosis, and I want that incorporated in advice given.

Ms Janice Donlon: Again, crisis pregnancy counsellors are not experts in maternity care.  
Information provided on the options available to women and their partners in this situation is 
best discussed in a maternity service that has expertise in the area.

Chairman: I thank Deputy McGrath for his comments.  I also thank Ms Donlon and Ms 
Deely for their attendance.  The information that they have provided has been very helpful.

I propose that we adjourn the meeting.  I will have no talk of any other business.  I propose 
that we meet again next Wednesday on 22 November at 1.30 p.m. in public session.  

Deputy  Mattie McGrath: The Chairman mentioned earlier that there would be a half an 
hour’s discussion on an issue.

Chairman: By all means.  I would be delighted.

Deputy  Mattie McGrath: When?

Chairman: Next week at 1.30 p.m.

Deputy  Mattie McGrath: Will that be in private or in public?

Chairman: Public.

The joint committee adjourned at 5.55 p.m. until 1.30 p.m. on Wednesday, 22 November 
2017.


